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         1            MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, with the recommencement

         2       of hearings in this inquiry, it is important to briefly

         3       review what has been the recent history.

         4

         5            On 27 March of this year a claim for privilege in

         6       relation to exhibit 665 was argued.  That is a document

         7       that some of us may know as the contrition statement.  That

         8       argument ensued, although it was contended that you,

         9       Mr Commissioner, had no power to decide questions of

        10       privilege.

        11

        12            On 5 April 2006 you, Mr Commissioner, delivered

        13       reasons rejecting the claim for privilege in relation to

        14       exhibit 665 and rejecting as well the contention of an

        15       absence of power in this inquiry to decide such issues.

        16

        17            Hearings continued between 27 March and 5 April.

        18

        19            On 5 April 2006 AWB made an application to the Federal

        20       Court in relation to the contrition document.  On 17 May

        21       the Federal Court upheld your ruling, Mr Commissioner, in

        22       relation to exhibit 665, however it also upheld AWB's

        23       contention that a royal commissioner could not decide

        24       questions of legal professional privilege.

        25

        26            That left as the only means of determining privilege

        27       an application to the Federal Court for a declaration.

        28

        29            On 30 May this inquiry convened for the purposes of a

        30       directions hearing so as to, in effect, organise the

        31       further hearings of this inquiry consequent upon the

        32       Federal Court's ruling concerning exhibit 665.  On that day

        33       AWB expressed an anxiety to have outstanding privilege

        34       issues resolved expeditiously.

        35

        36            On that day, AWB commenced proceedings in the Federal

        37       Court in relation to that issue.

        38

        39            In relation to those proceedings, you,

        40       Mr Commissioner, were named as a party.  The Commonwealth

        41       became the second respondent.  In accordance with

        42       principles enunciated in weighty authority, you,

        43       Mr Commissioner, complied with convention and submitted to

        44       the order of the Federal Court - in other words, this

        45       inquiry did not play any active role in those proceedings.

        46

        47            Those proceedings were conducted as between AWB and
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         1       the Commonwealth acting as contradictor.  As we understand

         2       it, submissions in those proceedings have been made and

         3       filed, and his Honour has reserved judgment in those

         4       proceedings.

         5

         6            It is not the intention of those assisting you in the

         7       course of the further proceedings of this inquiry to, in

         8       any, way impinge upon the issues that were argued in the

         9       Federal Court proceedings and in respect of which we await

        10       judgment.

        11

        12            The proceedings which recommence today will relate to

        13       issues which are not concerned with whether or not

        14       privilege attaches to the various documents that were the

        15       subject of the Federal Court proceedings.

        16

        17            Since 30 May this inquiry has received seven folders

        18       comprising 541 documents forwarded by AWB on 21 July 2006.

        19       It was said that the claimed privilege in relation to those

        20       documents had either been waived or was no longer claimed

        21       or had originally been claimed in error.

        22

        23            On 14 August 2006 the inquiry received a further eight

        24       volumes of material comprising 558 documents, being

        25       documents for which, it was said by AWB, it had decided not

        26       to press any claim for privilege.

        27

        28            On 19 August the inquiry received a bundle of emails

        29       additional to those provided on 26 May consequent upon the

        30       Federal Court upholding your decision that exhibit 665 was

        31       not legally professional privileged.

        32

        33            We have received additional material as well,

        34       Mr Commissioner.  We have received a statement from

        35       Ms Gillingham, who is to be called this morning, together

        36       with annexures.  That was received last evening.  We have

        37       received a statement and annexures in relation to

        38       Jessica Lyons, who is also to be called today.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius, I think that summation is, so

        41       far as I'm aware, accurate except that it omits the fact

        42       that, in the interim, since 30 May, indeed, before 30 May,

        43       the Federal Parliament has passed an amending Act to ensure

        44       that this and future Royal Commissions have the power to

        45       decide the questions of legal professional privilege in

        46       relation to documents.  That was enacted and came into

        47       operation I think on 22 or 23 June.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Yes.  That is so, and it was expected to be

         3       enacted.  When this Commission sat on 30 May it was then a

         4       bill was before parliament.  It appeared that the bill had

         5       the support of both sides of the parliament and it was

         6       expected that the bill might be passed.  However, it was

         7       not yet law as at 30 May 2006.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   We make no complaint about the fact that, as

        12       was its right, AWB chose to ventilate its claims in

        13       relation to legal professional privilege before the Federal

        14       Court rather than before you, and in that regard, as

        15       history proves, the inquiry simply submitted to the orders

        16       of the Federal Court.  I simply record these matters as a

        17       matter of background to explain and to have on the record

        18       what has occurred as a matter of fact.

        19

        20            As I have said, we do not intend in any way to

        21       traverse the issues that were raised in the Federal Court,

        22       and we are content, as we must be, to await the judgment,

        23       but there is plenty of other work to do in the meantime.

        24

        25            Part of that work involves the examination of

        26       Ms Gillingham.  A notice requiring Ms Gillingham's

        27       attendance was issued on 9 August of this year, and on

        28       11 August notices were issued requiring the production of

        29       documents relevant to what was expected to be the evidence

        30       Ms Gillingham, Ms Lyons and Ms Peavey.

        31

        32            Most of the documents which would be caught by the

        33       notice that was issued on 11 August relating to

        34       Ms Gillingham's material would have been caught by earlier

        35       notices that had been issued by this inquiry.

        36       Nevertheless, the inquiry was informed by letter on

        37       21 August that further extensive searches at AWB had

        38       identified 69 volumes of potentially relevant material from

        39       Ms Gillingham; 64 from Ms Peavey; and 65 from Ms Lyons.

        40

        41            The inquiry was advised on 21 August that the

        42       69 volumes had been examined and after removal of

        43       duplicates and material that the inquiry already held, that

        44       69-volume group was reduced to a group of 13 volumes.  We

        45       received three of those volumes last evening, two this

        46       morning, and there are eight outstanding.  The letter also

        47       advised that searches to date had not encompassed 2005
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         1       emails, and although apparently a task is under way to

         2       locate and produce copies of those relevant emails caught

         3       by the notices, we're not sure when it is that we will

         4       receive those emails.

         5

         6            Accordingly, I will not be able to complete

         7       Ms Gillingham's examination today, but we are in a position

         8       to make a start.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   In relation to Ms Lyons, there were, we were

        13       told, 65 volumes located.  We've not received any of that

        14       material.  We imagine that a lot of that will contain

        15       duplications and material that the inquiry already holds

        16       but, nevertheless, it is likely that there will be folders

        17       which are fresh.

        18

        19            Accordingly, when we call Ms Lyons today, it will be

        20       on the understanding that we will not be able to complete

        21       her examination.

        22

        23            We expect to call Ms Peavey tomorrow.  As I have said,

        24       there are 64 volumes which have been located in relation to

        25       Ms Peavey, and we've not received any of those.  With the

        26       best will in the world, we will not be able to complete

        27       Ms Peavey's examination tomorrow, even if we were to

        28       receive those folders today.

        29

        30            That is the position as matters stand.  I expect today

        31       to be in a position to examine Ms Gillingham in relation to

        32       the material that emerges from her statement and the

        33       annexures which, as I say, were received yesterday - the

        34       statement in the afternoon, the annexures later.  That

        35       statement and annexures comprises one volume of material.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Abbott, do you have an application?

        38

        39       MR ABBOTT:   Yes, I apply on the usual terms to appear for

        40       Ms Gillingham with my learned friend Mr David Grant.

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, that application is granted on the

        43       usual terms.

        44

        45       MR ABBOTT:   Could I, Mr Commissioner, just say something

        46       very briefly?  I have not seen the letter that my learned

        47       friend has been referring to from I assume Arnold Bloch
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         1       Leibler, but I'm aware that, because of the instructions

         2       I've taken from Ms Gillingham, when there was a first

         3       attempt to retrieve material relevant to her, it resulted

         4       in 69 lever arch volumes of material printed out.  She has

         5       been doing her best to distil from that the information

         6       which we have understood to be relevant to this

         7       Commission's inquiry, and whilst I accept that my learned

         8       friend may not be able to complete today, we would not

         9       expect there would be anything else that emerges.

        10

        11            I notice that my friend said that there are some

        12       volumes outstanding.  Again, Ms Gillingham is not

        13       personally responsible for the production of those volumes.

        14       That comes through the solicitors acting for AWB.  We've

        15       done our best to produce the material in the one volume

        16       that we have produced for the Commission, which we would

        17       expect, although I can't guarantee it, will be, I expect,

        18       the totality of the material that the Commission will be

        19       interested in in reference to my client, Ms Gillingham.

        20

        21       <JILL GILLINGHAM, sworn:                    [10.55am]

        22

        23       <EXAMINATION BY MR AGIUS:

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Gillingham, might we have your full

        26       name for the record, please?

        27       A.   Jill Gillingham.

        28

        29       Q.   You appear today in answer to a notice requiring your

        30       attendance; is that right?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   We have from you, Ms Gillingham, a statement of

        34       25 pages, dated 21 August 2006.  We also have a letter

        35       recording a number of errors and correcting those errors -

        36       mainly typographical.  If we take the letter together with

        37       the statement, do you say that, to the best of your

        38       knowledge and belief, the statement is true and correct?

        39       A.   Yes, I do.

        40

        41       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, I will tender as one exhibit

        42       the volume containing the statement, the letter dated

        43       21 August noting errata, and the annexures to the

        44       statement.

        45

        46

        47
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         1       EXHIBIT #1024 STATEMENT OF MS GILLINGHAM, BARCODED

         2       WST.0042.0002-0026 TOGETHER WITH LETTER DATED 21/8/2006

         3       NOTING ERRATA, PLUS ANNEXURES TO MS GILLINGHAM'S STATEMENT

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   There is just one matter that I would refer to

         6       in that regard.  The statement records that it contains

         7       confidential material that is confidential to AWB Limited,

         8       and that it shouldn't be read publicly without clearance

         9       from AWB, which had not been obtained as at the date of

        10       21 August.  The statement also records that it contains

        11       material that may be subject to a claim by AWB of legal

        12       professional privilege.

        13

        14            I haven't had the opportunity this morning to speak to

        15       my learned friend Mr Judd about that.  Might I inquire

        16       through you, Mr Commissioner, whether or not the statement

        17       and the annexures have been vetted by AWB and whether or

        18       not, having regard to the issues of confidentiality and

        19       legal professional privilege, it can be made a public

        20       exhibit?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, the document has been reviewed for

        23       legal professional privilege, and no claim is made in

        24       respect of its contents.

        25

        26            There is one attachment, which is a confidential

        27       exhibit I think already before the Commission, and that

        28       should be simply accorded that status.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which attachment is that?  Perhaps you

        31       could give me the page.

        32

        33       MR JUDD:   My junior will identify that.  It is page 112,

        34       and it appears that it has been blanked out, which is

        35       probably an unnecessary precaution if it continues the

        36       status it already has.  The Commission, we understand, has

        37       this copy in its unedited form.

        38

        39       THE COMMISSIONER:   And it is which confidential exhibit?

        40

        41       MR JUDD:   The number of the document is ELG.0002 --

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have that.  You said it is a

        44       confidential exhibit.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   I am sorry, I don't have the confidential

        47       exhibit number.  If we can provide that to my friend or the
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         1       Commission in a few minutes?

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   We will get the number.

         4

         5       MR JUDD:   Thank you, Commissioner.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   The annexure in the form in which it appears at

         8       112 I am informed is exhibit 315 as a public exhibit.  At

         9       page 97 of the volume, there is a document which reproduces

        10       confidential exhibit 79C, which was tendered on 20 January

        11       2006.  We would ask that that annexure to the statement be

        12       also received as a confidential annexure.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shall note that the document annexed

        15       to Ms Gillingham's statement, pages 97 to 104 is

        16       confidential exhibit 79C and is to remain as a confidential

        17       exhibit.  The document at pages 112 and 113 is in a

        18       redacted form and is already exhibit 315 and there seems no

        19       need for confidentiality in relation to that.

        20

        21       MR ABBOTT:   Commissioner, pages 247 and 249 need to be

        22       transposed.  Page 249 needs to be moved to page 247 and

        23       page 247 needs to be moved to where page 249 was.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   The statement does annex, as I thought, a copy

        28       of an affidavit of this witness of 13 July 2006 which is

        29       said to have been filed in the Federal Court proceedings.

        30       It is not intended to examine Ms Gillingham in relation to

        31       that affidavit.  The affidavit is tendered merely because

        32       it was presented to this inquiry as an annexure to

        33       Ms Gillingham's statement.  I would expect that

        34       Ms Gillingham adopts that affidavit as being true and

        35       correct, as I understand the effect of her evidence to be

        36       up to this point in time, but it should not be taken that

        37       any questions that I ask are directed to the content of

        38       that affidavit at all.  In fact, I have made a point of not

        39       even reading it, so I will not be examining Ms Gillingham

        40       in relation to her Federal Court affidavit.

        41

        42            I would ask my learned friend Mr Judd and his junior,

        43       who are much more familiar with the Federal Court

        44       proceedings than I am, that if it appears to them that

        45       I stray into the area of issues that were ventilated before

        46       the Federal Court, they quickly rise to draw my attention

        47       to it.  I would be indebted if they did.  It is certainly
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         1       not my intention to do so.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, in that respect, I noticed

         4       reading Ms Lyons' statement that there are significant

         5       portions blanked out, I presume by AWB, pursuant to a claim

         6       for privilege.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   Yes.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   The inquiry received from your

        11       solicitors on 16 August a document which is, no doubt, a

        12       list which was filed in the Federal Court, which lists from

        13       1 to 1304 the documents which were there, initially at

        14       least, in contention, and it indicates that there are four

        15       categories of documents in that list.

        16

        17            The first category is said to be accepted; the second,

        18       in contest; the third, not caught by notice, and the

        19       fourth, not pressed.

        20

        21            In the statement of Ms Lyons, where passages are

        22       blanked out, I would be grateful if you could indicate to

        23       me, when we come to that statement, which documents in this

        24       list ground the claim for privilege, so that that it is

        25       clear what the outcome might be depending upon the outcome

        26       in the Federal Court.

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   Yes.  We will attend to that, Commissioner.  We

        29       of course haven't prepared these statements, so that --

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, but somebody from your side, from

        32       AWB, has been through them and blanked out portions for

        33       privilege, as I understand it.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   They have.  They have gone through and blanked

        36       out portions, but we can attend to the linking up, as it

        37       were, of those portions with exhibit numbers to provide the

        38       assistance that you asked for, and we will address that.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        41

        42       MR JUDD:   To respond to my friend's request, we accept, of

        43       course, my friend's intention in relation to the

        44       examination of witnesses, and if we are of the view that

        45       the matter is straying into an area, we will raise it, but

        46       we will raise it against the background that we are given

        47       the assurance that that is not the intention that my friend
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         1       has.

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   I will tender a letter received from Messrs

         4       Arnold Bloch Leibler of 16 August 2006, which letter refers

         5       to and encloses the list to which you were referring,

         6       Mr Commissioner.  That material can be found between

         7       barcode numbers AWB.0448.0001 through to and inclusive of

         8       0151.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   The letter from Arnold Bloch Leibler to

        11       the solicitor assisting the inquiry, dated 16 August,

        12       together with the attached document of 62 pages will be

        13       exhibit 1025.

        14

        15       EXHIBIT #1025 LETTER FROM ARNOLD BLOCH LEIBLER TO THE

        16       SOLICITOR ASSISTING THE INQUIRY DATED 16/8/2006 WITH

        17       ATTACHED LIST, BARCODED AWB.0448.0001-0151

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   There are actually two documents,

        20       Mr Commissioner.  One is a document of 62 pages and the

        21       other is a document of 88 pages attached to that.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  Thank you.  They will

        24       both be included in the exhibit.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you have with you, Ms Gillingham, a

        27       copy of your statement of 21 August 2006?

        28       A.   Yes, I do.

        29

        30       Q.   We know that you joined AWB in July of 2000 and that

        31       your position is now entitled "General manager technology

        32       and business process" and that in November of 2005 you were

        33       given the responsibility for coordinating Project Lilac,

        34       which, in short, was the code name given to the project

        35       centred upon the response by AWB to this inquiry.  That's

        36       right, isn't it?

        37       A.   That's right.

        38

        39       Q.   You say at page 7, paragraph 14 that you were also a

        40       member of the executive leadership group.  Can I ask you

        41       from what time were you a member --

        42       A.   From when I started in 2000.

        43

        44       Q.   So that would be from July of 2000?

        45       A.   That's right.

        46

        47       Q.   May we take it that you attended as many meetings of
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         1       the ELG as you could?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Did you maintain a series of files containing

         5       documents that related to ELG meetings?

         6       A.   I would normally keep the agendas or papers, but not

         7       necessarily in a well-organised filing system.  So some of

         8       them would be kept, some of them wouldn't.

         9

        10       Q.   Those that you did keep, did you keep discretely, so

        11       that you could go to a particular place and find all

        12       ELG-related material, being agendas and documents that had

        13       been provided for ELG meetings?

        14       A.   Yes.  My executive assistant would keep a filing

        15       system.  As I say, not necessarily all of those documents

        16       would go into that filing system, in that I may have

        17       written on some or decided that they were no longer

        18       required.  But, in general terms, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   Did you make a habit of reading material that was

        21       provided to you in advance of the ELG meetings?

        22       A.   I would normally try and ensure that I'd at least

        23       skimmed through material that had been provided.

        24       I wouldn't say I'd necessarily read everything that would

        25       come to the ELG, but I would attempt to read or skim most

        26       of the material.

        27

        28       Q.   You say at page 7 that there were two purposes, at

        29       least two purposes, for the ELG.  One was, as a primary

        30       purpose, to make major strategic and capital expenditure

        31       decisions.  The second was to act as an information session

        32       for all ELG members, including the managing director.  Do

        33       we take it from that that you went to these meetings with a

        34       view to obtaining information about what was happening

        35       within AWB generally; is that right?

        36       A.   Yes.  It would normally - there would be some flow of

        37       information around what was happening, yes.

        38

        39       Q.   You say that your concerns related to matters which

        40       might have business systems implications.  What do you mean

        41       by "business systems implications"?

        42       A.   Basically because one of my areas of responsibility

        43       was information technology.  If we had business cases being

        44       presented for new products or capital expenditure, it was

        45       certainly my key interest to ensure that I looked at those

        46       business cases to see whether there would be any

        47       information systems technology implications.  People have a
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         1       tendency of putting up business cases without considering

         2       the technology implications.

         3

         4       Q.   So does that mean you took an interest in everything

         5       that was said at the ELG in order to determine whether or

         6       not it had implications for business systems?

         7       A.   No.  Primarily it would be in relation to business

         8       cases, as I say, around new products or new capital

         9       expenditure that may well have a systems implication; but

        10       not everything would have systems implications.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Ms Gillingham, is it right that

        13       for a short period of time - during a vacation, I expect -

        14       you were the acting chief executive officer?

        15       A.   Yes, that's correct.  It was over the Christmas/New

        16       Year break.

        17

        18       Q.   And that was at a time when you were the chief

        19       operating officer, or chief information officer, I forget

        20       which?

        21       A.   Yes.  I think it was probably when I was group general

        22       manager supply chain and technology.  So I think it was

        23       past the chief operating officer period.

        24

        25       Q.   Does that mean that you were the second-most senior

        26       executive in AWB?

        27       A.   No.  It meant that I was the only one not on leave,

        28       I think.

        29

        30       Q.   So whereabouts in the hierarchy do you now sit?

        31       A.   I'm not sure there is a direct hierarchy.  Basically

        32       it was the chief executive, then the chief financial

        33       officer, and then the rest of the executive would be

        34       basically on a par.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   Q.   At paragraph 28 you say that you had no

        37       involvement in the sale of wheat to Iraq, however when you

        38       were acting manager and director of AWB Limited for a week

        39       or so over Christmas/New Year in December/January

        40       2004/2005, you were informed of the state of negotiations

        41       of a proposal for the sale of wheat to Iraq.  Did you

        42       receive that information simply in your capacity as acting

        43       managing director?

        44       A.   Yes.  It was basically because I was in that position,

        45       people that were involved in the sale process were on a

        46       fairly high level, general level, keeping me informed.

        47
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         1       Q.   And did you understand that it was the practice that

         2       the managing director would be told about matters

         3       concerning the sale of wheat to Iraq generally?

         4       A.   From a very - from a high level in terms of knowing

         5       that a sale was in process.  It could also have been

         6       because other executives were on leave as well.  I was

         7       probably the only one there to tell.

         8

         9       Q.   Can I take you to a document which is annexed to your

        10       statement at paginated page 105.  It is referred to in

        11       paragraph 33 of your statement.  It is AWB.0129.0167.

        12       A.   Would you like me to find it here?

        13

        14       Q.   Yes, you might turn it up at page 105 of your

        15       annexures.  I have another barcode number for it, if that

        16       is of any assistance.  WST.0042.0131.  This email was

        17       addressed to you amongst others on 7 November 2002.  About

        18       two-thirds of the way through the email, half way down,

        19       Mr Whitwell speaks of key outcomes from a delegation that

        20       he was part of that went to Iraq in late October of 2002.

        21       In it he says:

        22

        23            Iron powder rebate (US$6 pmt) is separate

        24            from other debt issues.  The minister --

        25

        26       that's the Iraqi minister --

        27

        28            has asked for repayment through inland

        29            transport mechanism.

        30

        31       Did you read that in November 2002?

        32       A.   I don't recall that I read it, but I may have.

        33

        34       Q.   Were you aware in November 2002 that AWB had settled

        35       an iron filings contamination issue with the IGB on the

        36       basis that AWB would pay a US dollar sum per tonne?

        37       A.   No, I wasn't aware of any detail.  I was aware there

        38       was a so-called quality issue in terms of iron filings, and

        39       that it had been resolved.  But I wasn't aware of the

        40       details of the resolution.

        41

        42       Q.   Were you aware that it had been resolved on the basis

        43       that AWB pay a sum of money to the Iraqis?

        44       A.   No, not necessarily, no.

        45

        46       Q.   Were you told how it was resolved?

        47       A.   No, not to my knowledge.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you ever learn how it was resolved?

         3       A.   I have recently, but up until this inquiry, no.

         4

         5       Q.   Do you find that odd?

         6       A.   No.

         7

         8       Q.   You were the officer at AWB responsible for

         9       coordinating AWB's response to notices served upon AWB

        10       requiring the production of documents to the inquiry?

        11       A.   That's right.

        12

        13       Q.   Did you not, during the course of that work, learn

        14       that there had been a settlement of the iron filings rebate

        15       in circumstances which required AWB to pay money to --

        16       A.   No.

        17

        18       Q.   -- the IGB?

        19       A.   In terms of my document production coordination role,

        20       I certainly did not undertake to read the documents or

        21       become familiar with the material.

        22

        23       Q.   Did you become familiar with the issues about which

        24       documents might have been created.

        25       A.   Only from the point of view of issues that had been

        26       raised from the Volcker Inquiry.  So, in broad terms, but

        27       not in detail.

        28

        29       Q.   Isn't it likely that you would have read an email like

        30       this that was directed to you?

        31       A.   No.

        32

        33       Q.   In November 2002?

        34       A.   No.  It wouldn't, because it really was a topic that

        35       I had no responsibility for.  I had a range of activities

        36       that I was responsible for that were very active at that

        37       period of time - putting in new systems, building new

        38       up-country storage sites, a whole range of things that were

        39       my responsibility that I would be paying a lot more

        40       attention to.

        41

        42       Q.   There had been a long and costly dispute between AWB

        43       and the IGB concerning demurrage issues, had there not?

        44       A.   There had been, I believe, when I first - not long

        45       after I first arrived at AWB, there had been issues around

        46       demurrage.

        47
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         1       Q.   And the iron filings contamination claim had caused

         2       problems for AWB in terms of its calendar for shipments of

         3       wheat to Iraq, had it not?

         4       A.   As I recall, there were issues around vessels getting

         5       held up over that, yes.

         6

         7       Q.   And there was talk about holding back shipments?

         8       A.   I don't recall holding back shipments.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Ms Gillingham, this contamination

        11       claim is regarded as of such seriousness that the chief

        12       executive officer went to Iraq to resolve it.  I think

        13       that's the only occasion on which that occurred.  Were you

        14       not aware of that?

        15       A.   I was certainly aware the chief executive went to Iraq

        16       and that it was resolved as a result of that, but that was

        17       the extent of my knowledge.

        18

        19       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Further down this email there is a

        20       reference:

        21

        22            Tigris debt has cabinet approval for

        23            repayment - final amount to be agreed

        24            during the next month by Tigris/Iraqis and

        25            then mechanism for repayment to be agreed

        26            during next visit.

        27

        28       Did you read that portion of the email in November of 2002?

        29       A.   I don't believe so, but even if I had, it really

        30       wouldn't have meant anything to me.

        31

        32       Q.   And if it didn't mean anything to you, would you not

        33       have asked questions about it?

        34       A.   Not - no, not necessarily, in an area that was

        35       operationally, as I say, not part of my responsibility.

        36       Tigris could have been anything to me.  It could have been

        37       a vessel.  I mean, there's a range of outstanding claims

        38       that AWB are dealing with, so it just wouldn't mean

        39       anything.

        40

        41       Q.   When did you first become aware of what the Tigris

        42       debt issue concerned?

        43       A.   I can't remember exactly the time, but in terms of at

        44       a high level, Tigris related to a shipment of wheat in

        45       relation to BHP, it was probably some time late last year.

        46

        47       Q.   Late last year in connection with your work associated
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         1       with getting documents together for this inquiry, or --

         2       A.   No, I think before that.  I understood from somewhere,

         3       I can't recall where, that Tigris related to a shipment of

         4       wheat for BHP.

         5

         6       Q.   That's what you first learnt about it?

         7       A.   Mmm.  Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   Did you learn at that time that IGB had agreed to pay

        10       for that shipment of wheat and that AWB had a role in

        11       recouping that payment?

        12       A.   No, not that I can recall.

        13

        14       Q.   When did you learn of that?

        15       A.   As part of - really as part of this inquiry.

        16

        17       Q.   Had you never read the attachment to this email which

        18       is at page 107 of the attachments to your statement -

        19       AWB.0129.0171?

        20       A.   I don't believe so.  I don't recall it.  I may have.

        21       I mean, these were people that I don't know - Dom Hogan and

        22       Chris Whitwell.  I may not have even met them at that

        23       stage, so it is unlikely I would have been scouring through

        24       their reports.

        25

        26       Q.   Whether you knew Hogan or Whitwell, you certainly were

        27       aware of the importance of the Iraqi trade to AWB?

        28       A.   I was aware that Iraq, along with two or three other

        29       major countries, were major clients in terms of selling

        30       wheat.

        31

        32       Q.   You were aware of the importance of that trade, were

        33       you not, to AWB?

        34       A.   I was aware that it was a major customer.

        35

        36       Q.   Did either of these issues ever come up at ELG

        37       meetings when you went to the information sessions to learn

        38       generally what was going on in AWB?  Were you not ever told

        39       that AWB might earn US$500,000 in return for assisting in

        40       the recoupment of this debt?

        41       A.   No.

        42

        43       Q.   Were you not told that AWB had a responsibility

        44       because of its agreement with IGB to pay something over

        45       US$2m by way of compensation for the contamination?

        46       A.   No, I don't believe so.

        47
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         1       Q.   Your description of the business of ELG meetings in

         2       your statement would seem to carry the implication that

         3       that's the sort of material that you might have learnt

         4       about at ELG meetings.  Would you agree with that?

         5       A.   In terms of the general information session?

         6

         7       Q.   Yes.

         8       A.   Yes, you could say that, but in fact this level of

         9       operational detail wasn't part of that.  It was normally

        10       about new initiatives, what had been happening, from my

        11       perspective, in the domestic supply chain front, but

        12       I don't recall virtually any details or discussions around

        13       these issues.

        14

        15       Q.   Do you recall the issues even coming up at ELG

        16       meetings?

        17       A.   I do recall, as I say, the fact that there was a

        18       quality claim in relation to Iraq.  I do recall that it was

        19       resolved.  I don't recall any detail of the nature of the

        20       resolution, and I do recall some discussion or some point

        21       about getting legal advice in relation to Tigris.  But

        22       that's basically what I recall.

        23

        24       Q.   So you recall some discussion about getting legal

        25       advice in relation to Tigris?

        26       A.   Well, the notion - the fact that legal advice was

        27       being sought or had been sought, I'm not sure, in relation

        28       to Tigris.

        29

        30       Q.   When were you told that?

        31       A.   I can't recall a particular date.

        32

        33       Q.   When you heard that, did you know what Tigris was

        34       then?

        35       A.   Well, I can only assume it was at that stage that

        36       I understood that it was a shipment of wheat in relation to

        37       BHP.

        38

        39       Q.   Was that in 2003 that you obtained that information?

        40       A.   No, I don't believe so.  I think it was later last

        41       year.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Last year, 2005?

        44       A.   In relation to - or earlier last year.  I can't recall

        45       exactly when it was.  It was, frankly, not of that much

        46       interest to me.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Might it have been December 2004?

         2       A.   It may have been.  I don't know.

         3

         4       Q.   Can I take you to page 112 of the annexures to your

         5       statement.  You deal with this at paragraph 34.  This is

         6       the ELG report of 6 May 2003, which the inquiry has as

         7       exhibit 315.  It can be found at ELG.0002.0087_R.  Could we

         8       go to the next page, 0088_R.  This is 6 May 2003, at a time

         9       when Michael Long and Trevor Flugge were off to Iraq to

        10       assist the CPA, and in a report which was prepared for that

        11       meeting Messrs Hockey and Whitwell include a

        12       paragraph relating to "Tigris Commission":

        13

        14            Tigris Petroleum (BHP) has asked for an

        15            update of status of their agreement in

        16            light of current contract execution and

        17            when they will begin receiving payments.

        18            They intimated a number of influential

        19            people will need to start receiving funds

        20            and that further delays may cause

        21            difficulties going forward.

        22

        23       Did you read that?

        24       A.   I don't recall reading that at all.

        25

        26       Q.   It is not the sort of thing you would forget, though,

        27       is it?

        28       A.   In relation - well, if you actually knew the detail,

        29       I guess not, but I don't recall reading it or it having any

        30       meaning to me at that stage.

        31

        32       Q.   Well, reading it now, what does it indicate to you?

        33       "a number of influential people will need to start

        34       receiving funds"?

        35

        36       MR ABBOTT:   Commissioner, I rise to query the relevance of

        37       this evidence.  She has been asked to speculate on what

        38       someone else has written some considerable time ago, in a

        39       document which she said she doesn't recall reading at the

        40       time.  In my submission, asking her to speculate on what

        41       someone else might have meant or what it meant, or what her

        42       interpretation or what it means to her is not going to

        43       assist you in the aims of this Commission.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I will allow it.

        46

        47       THE WITNESS:   What does it mean to me now?
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Yes, or what does it imply?

         3       A.  "...asked for an update of status of their agreement in

         4       light of current contract execution and when they will

         5       begin receiving payments.  They intimated a number of

         6       influential people will need to start receiving funds and

         7       that further delays may cause difficulties going forward"

         8       Tigris Petroleum were seeking to receive payments and -

         9       I've really got no idea what "a number of influential

        10       people will need to start receiving funds" means.

        11

        12       Q.   Doesn't it carry an implication of bribery or

        13       corruption?

        14       A.   I suppose it could be read that way.

        15

        16       Q.   Did anybody at the ELG meeting in May of 2003 for

        17       which this was prepared raise this as a topic for

        18       discussion?

        19       A.   I certainly don't recall it.  As I say, I don't recall

        20       reading that; I don't recall the presentation; I don't

        21       recall any discussion.

        22

        23       Q.   But if anybody had raised something with an

        24       implication of bribery or corruption at an ELG meeting, it

        25       is unlikely that you would forget about it, isn't it?

        26       A.   Oh, if someone made a point of saying "I believe this

        27       is bribery", then, yes.

        28

        29       Q.   Does it not strike you as strange that nobody who has

        30       given evidence who attended this ELG meeting can say

        31       anything about this entry?

        32

        33       MR ABBOTT:   Commissioner, again I rise to object.

        34

        35       MR AGIUS:   I will withdraw that question.

        36

        37       Q.   In terms of the way the ELG meetings worked in May of

        38       2003, Ms Gillingham, would you not have expected that an

        39       entry such as this in a report which is prepared for the

        40       ELG would have attracted attention?

        41       A.   I guess that's assuming it was - I don't even know

        42       whether this presentation was given.  I mean, the way the

        43       ELG worked, many presentations were not even given, in that

        44       they would be scheduled and they would be on the agenda,

        45       but we basically just wouldn't get to them.  So my estimate

        46       would be, over the period certainly, there could be up to

        47       60 per cent of presentations that didn't actually get
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         1       given, because we ran out of time.

         2

         3       Q.   What happened to them, were they just forgotten, would

         4       they go over to the next meeting?

         5       A.   They might go over to the next one or they might not;

         6       they would just move on.

         7

         8       Q.   They would just be forgotten?

         9       A.   As a presentation, yes.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But weren't these reports provided

        12       to the members of the ELG in advance of the meeting?

        13       A.   Some of them were, some of them not.  Some of them

        14       would be walk-in presentations, so some of them, people

        15       would walk in with some documents, walk in and just give a

        16       verbal presentation.  So they weren't all provided in

        17       advance and, as I say, they definitely weren't all given.

        18       Now, I just don't know whether this one was or not.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What you have said in your statement is

        21       that you have no recollection of this item being discussed

        22       at ELG on that date, although it may have been.

        23       A.   Well, that's true.

        24

        25       Q.   And that's still your position?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   So this item may have been discussed, but you can't

        29       recollect it?

        30       A.   That's true.

        31

        32       Q.   Have you asked any questions about this item or this

        33       issue in more recent times?

        34       A.   Recently?

        35

        36       Q.   Yes.

        37       A.   No.

        38

        39       Q.   Well, since the end of last year, since November of

        40       2005?

        41

        42       MR ABBOTT:   I take it this is not intended to include

        43       discussions with counsel and instructing solicitors.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Of course not, yes.

        46

        47       MR ABBOTT:   I think that ought to be made clear to her.
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         1

         2       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Have you asked any questions within AWB,

         3       not including, of course, Mr Abbott and your solicitor,

         4       about this.  You see, this, to your knowledge, is recorded

         5       in a document which, on its face, is prepared for an ELG

         6       meeting which the evidence indicates you attended.  You see

         7       this entry - and I am putting myself in your shoes - and

         8       you think, "Gee, I can't remember anything about this, I

         9       can't remember whether it was discussed or not.  It might

        10       have been discussed.  It looks like it might be about

        11       bribery or corruption."  Surely, what you would have done

        12       is gone to somebody else at AWB and say "What's this entry?

        13       Did we talk about this?  What was it about?  I can't

        14       remember it.  What can you tell me about it?"  Did you make

        15       any of those sorts of inquiries?

        16       A.   No, I haven't.

        17

        18       Q.   Why not?

        19       A.   Well, my feeling was that this inquiry was doing the

        20       bulk of the exhaustive investigation and inquiry, and

        21       I didn't shadow the inquiry, if you like, in terms of going

        22       and asking my own - and I believe Mr Cole will conduct the

        23       inquiry and, with all the information - it would be very

        24       difficult for me to go and find my own information.

        25

        26       Q.   Couldn't you go to other members of the ELG and ask

        27       the very questions that I have indicated to you in your own

        28       interests - leaving aside the public duty that Mr Cole has

        29       in that regard.

        30       A.   No, I think to do that, I would have been basically

        31       going and asking about hundreds of documents that I hadn't

        32       seen before, and a whole range of issues that I had no

        33       knowledge of.  I would have been spending my time going and

        34       following up on many documents and many issues.

        35

        36       Q.   You were aware of the Tigris matter being an issue

        37       before the first hearing day of this inquiry, were you not?

        38       A.   Before the first hearing day?

        39

        40       Q.   That was 16 January of this year.

        41       A.   Yes.  Certainly from discussions with the lawyers,

        42       yes.

        43

        44       Q.   Well, leaving aside discussion with the lawyers, in

        45       connection with discussions concerning the approach to

        46       Dr Sandman, and in connection with the various iterations

        47       of the contrition document, and the development of that



            .22/8/2006 (69)            6820     J GILLINGHAM (Mr Agius)

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       document, you were aware of the Tigris matter, were you

         2       not?

         3       A.   Yes.

         4

         5       Q.   Of course you carried with you whatever knowledge you

         6       had as an ELG member.  In that connection, didn't you,

         7       yourself, make any inquiry to discover for your own

         8       purposes what responsibility the ELG might have had for

         9       this Tigris matter?

        10       A.   No.

        11

        12       Q.   Not at all?

        13       A.   No.

        14

        15       Q.   Incidentally, in connection with your responsibility

        16       at AWB for putting together the documents or supervising

        17       the retrieval of documents so that they may be forwarded to

        18       this inquiry, and in connection with your responsibility

        19       for dealing with Dr Sandman and your knowledge of the

        20       production of the various iterations of the document, did

        21       you ever think about your own role at AWB and what your own

        22       knowledge was at any time, of significant issues that are

        23       likely to arise in this inquiry?

        24       A.   In the context of what did I know when --

        25

        26       Q.   Yes.

        27       A.   -- in terms of understanding that.  From the point of

        28       view of trying to think back, yes, but it didn't really

        29       take me anywhere beyond what I've put in my statement.

        30

        31       Q.   We will come to the detail a little later, but some of

        32       the iterations of the contrition document - not the final

        33       version, but some of the earlier versions - refer to what

        34       people at AWB either knew or suspected.  Did you ever

        35       examine those issues from your own perspective?

        36       A.   In terms of following them up?  No.

        37

        38       Q.   Let's follow through as best we can the chronology of

        39       events touching upon the development of that contrition

        40       document.  We have a form of it as exhibit 19, which was a

        41       supplementary statement of Mr Lindberg of 13 January 2006.

        42       I wonder if we could bring that up.  It is WST.0002.0001.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't think it is accurate to

        45       categorise this document as the contrition statement.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   I suspect that the evidence will indicate that
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         1       this is what was left of the contrition statement --

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   It is the contrition statement without

         4       the contrition.

         5

         6       Q.   Are we able to find this WST.0002.0001?  Can I pass

         7       you a copy of this document.  We have this as Mr Lindberg's

         8       supplementary statement.  It is dated 13 January 2006 and

         9       it was produced as part of Mr Lindberg's evidence.  Is this

        10       what you understand to be the end product of the process

        11       that began with the approach to Dr Sandman?  When I say

        12       "the end product", the public end product --

        13       A.   Yes.

        14

        15       Q.   -- of the process?

        16       A.   Yes, that started with the Sandman discussions and

        17       then went through a number of iterations and then developed

        18       into part of Andrew Lindberg's evidence, yes.

        19

        20       Q.   In the form of this document?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   Is that right?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   I think we can follow the approach to Dr Sandman by

        27       working through the annexures to your statement.  You will

        28       forgive me, you have been very helpful in putting these

        29       matters in chronological order, but we have only had a very

        30       little time with your statement.  I may be a bit slow and

        31       I may need your help.

        32

        33            If you go to your annexures, I have a reference to

        34       Professor Sandman at - I am trying to pick up the earlier

        35       reference - about 7 December 2005.  We have an email from

        36       him to you at page --

        37       A.   Is there a page number?

        38

        39       Q.   Page 120.

        40

        41       MR ABBOTT:   The first one is page 121.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   I have one at page 120.

        44

        45       MR ABBOTT:   Yes.  Commissioner, that is the answer to

        46       page 121.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   I see.  It works backwards.  I follow.

         2

         3       Q.   So that is your approach at page 121?

         4       A.   That's right.

         5

         6       Q.   His response is at page 120.

         7       A.   Yes.

         8

         9       Q.   At that stage there was discussion, in fact over the

        10       next day or two, about whether or not he could come to

        11       Australia?

        12       A.   That's right.

        13

        14       Q.   At page 124, WST.0042.0150, that is where you speak of

        15       having discussed "the prospect of working with you on the

        16       issues we are facing at the moment with Andrew Lindberg and

        17       the value I believe you could bring to assist us",

        18       Mr Lindberg was keen to assist and was wondering whether or

        19       not Professor Sandman could come to Australia.  There are

        20       further emails in which you set up a telephone conference

        21       with him, and we come to your diary entry for 13 December

        22       2005, your electronic diary.   On 13 December, at page 129,

        23       WST.0042.0155, an entry reads "Hook up with Peter

        24       Sandman" -  his phone number is there - "Location Andrew's

        25       office."  There is an indication that you were to be

        26       present.

        27

        28            Your statement at paragraph 46 records that your

        29       recollection is that Mr Lindberg didn't attend and that you

        30       attended.  You spoke to Professor Sandman and there was a

        31       procedural discussion concerning his availability; is that

        32       right?

        33       A.   That's right.

        34

        35       Q.   You arranged a further telephone hook-up for

        36       16 December?

        37       A.   That's right.

        38

        39       Q.   We see at the bottom of your diary entry at page 129,

        40       at 16:30 hours "AL/J Gillingham re Non-Project Lilac

        41       issues".  Did that meeting touch upon Professor Sandman?

        42       A.   I can't actually recall that meeting.  The fact that

        43       it says "Non-Project Lilac issues" indicates to me that

        44       I had some other issues, that I can't recall at the moment,

        45       that were totally unrelated, to talk to Andrew about.  I

        46       can't actually recall whether that meeting took place or

        47       not, but obviously the intention was to have a meeting
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         1       about some other issues.  They may - I don't know, they may

         2       have been harvest issues, or could have been anything.

         3

         4       Q.   If we go to pages 132 through to 134, there is a

         5       confidentiality undertaking between AWB and Professor

         6       Sandman.  The copy annexed to your statement is unsigned.

         7       Do you know whether such an agreement was ever executed?

         8       A.   I believe - I don't know, to be honest.  I believe it

         9       would have been, but I don't know.

        10

        11       Q.   Then we go to page 136, WST.0042.0162, Fiona Shugg, on

        12       behalf of AWB, sends to Professor Sandman over 100 pages of

        13       material relating to AWB and the Volcker Inquiry.

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Did anybody at this stage sit down and dictate or

        17       prepare a statement of issues?  Did you settle such a

        18       statement?

        19       A.   No.

        20

        21       Q.   Did you ever, in your discussions with Professor

        22       Sandman up to this time, 13 December 2005, discuss with him

        23       what the real issues were?

        24       A.   I don't believe so.  I believe my discussions were

        25       around his availability and whether he could come out here

        26       and broadly some of his - he referred me to his web site

        27       and a couple of articles that I took off his web site.  But

        28       I don't believe I had any detailed discussions in terms of

        29       the actual matters.  That's why I sent him - wanted to send

        30       him this background information.

        31

        32       Q.   I'm not going to take you through all this background

        33       information, but there doesn't seem to be within it any

        34       statement of issues as AWB saw them which might emerge and

        35       which might need to be addressed in this inquiry.

        36       A.   No.

        37

        38       Q.   Do you agree with that?

        39       A.   That's right.

        40

        41       Q.   To the best of your knowledge and belief, no such

        42       statement of issues was ever provided to Professor

        43       Sandman - that is, up until the conversation on

        44       16 December?

        45       A.   That's correct.

        46

        47       Q.   I will skip over all of the material that was provided
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         1       to him, and then we come to your diary entry for

         2       16 December 2005, at WST.0042.0258, which is page 232 of

         3       the annexures.  This is referred to as "Lilac: Hook-up with

         4       Sandman".  You deal with it at paragraph 48 of your

         5       statement.  You refer to the invitees being

         6       Messrs Lindberg, Cooper, Hargreaves and Fuller.  You said

         7       that you believed they all attended.  You were in

         8       attendance.  You describe the meeting as being.

         9

        10            ... a free-ranging discussion in which

        11            Sandman discussed his experience, the work

        12            he had done for other companies, his theory

        13            and philosophy regarding the making of an

        14            apology as an appropriate corporate

        15            response to particular situations.

        16

        17       Well, that is a brief description of what Professor Sandman

        18       spoke of.  What was said - that is, what is the gist and

        19       substance of what was said - by anybody from AWB during the

        20       course of this free-ranging discussion?

        21       A.   I do think the bulk of that discussion was really

        22       Professor Sandman exposing us to his philosophies and his

        23       views and his approach to apology and communication in

        24       general.  I really can't recall specific points made in

        25       relation to the details of this matter, other than

        26       Professor Sandman giving us - because at that stage I don't

        27       think any of the other people had had any exposure to his

        28       philosophy, so it was a lot about him putting that forward.

        29

        30       Q.   Did anybody tell him, in the course of this

        31       conference, information about what AWB had done, what

        32       it might be alleged that it had done, what AWB had found

        33       out that some of its employees had done, knew or suspected?

        34       Was there any of that material provided to Professor

        35       Sandman during the course of this teleconference?

        36       A.   I can't recall any specific - I mean, presumably there

        37       was some discussion about the matters, but I can't - I

        38       can't recall anyone giving details of that.

        39

        40       Q.   Did you take any notes?

        41       A.   No, I didn't.

        42

        43       Q.   Did anybody else who attended this meeting take notes?

        44       A.   I'm not sure.  They may have.

        45

        46       Q.   You can't remember, or you didn't see people with pen

        47       and paper?
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         1       A.   I don't recall seeing people with pen and paper, but

         2       they may have.  I don't know.

         3

         4       Q.   Was this teleconference tape-recorded?

         5       A.   No.

         6

         7       Q.   What was the situation at the end of the

         8       teleconference?  What had been achieved as between AWB and

         9       Professor Sandman?

        10       A.   I think we had generally discussed his - as I say, his

        11       philosophies.  I can't recall at that stage whether we

        12       determined that we should try and encapsulate his

        13       philosophy into a statement, but we may have.

        14

        15       Q.   In a meeting between the AWB personnel after the

        16       teleconference was over?

        17       A.   Well, I'm not sure whether it was at the meeting or

        18       afterwards.  I don't remember a meeting afterwards, so

        19       possibly at the meeting.  I don't know.  I just can't

        20       remember exactly what was decided.  I can just remember the

        21       discussion with Mr Sandman talking about his experience.

        22

        23       Q.   And you can't remember any statement of issues or any

        24       statement of facts and circumstances being described to

        25       Professor Sandman during this teleconference?

        26       A.   Well, I assume there was, but I just can't recall the

        27       details of that.  I assume we would have been talking

        28       something about the background.

        29

        30       Q.   Well, had anybody been tasked with putting together a

        31       statement of background that might be discussed with

        32       Professor Sandman during the course of this teleconference?

        33       A.   Not - no, not to my knowledge.

        34

        35       Q.   To your knowledge, had Professor Sandman been retained

        36       prior to this free-ranging discussion?

        37       A.   I think basically that email where I'd said that

        38       I discussed it with Andrew and we wanted to retain him.

        39

        40       Q.   So you would regard him as having been formally

        41       retained prior to this discussion?

        42       A.   I believe so, yes.  I'm not - whether we were having

        43       the discussion to determine whether we would retain him,

        44       but I think he was probably retained.

        45

        46       Q.   By then you knew something - that is you, not AWB, but

        47       you at least - knew something of his approach to these
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         1       matters and something of his philosophy?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Because you had been to his web site?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   You had seen material that he had written?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   You had spoken to him and you knew that his philosophy

        11       incorporated a statement of contrition of some kind?

        12       A.   Yes.

        13

        14       Q.   Contrition for the apparent breaches of ethics?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   What were the matters that were on the agenda as

        18       between yourself, Messrs Lindberg, Cooper, Hargreaves and

        19       Fuller that required any statement of contrition as at

        20       16 December?

        21       A.   I think it was more a matter of taking Sandman's

        22       philosophy and applying that in terms of people's general

        23       views and knowledge.

        24

        25       Q.   His philosophy was one that, if there is an allegation

        26       of breach of ethics, you must get to the substance of it

        27       and you must express contrition for it.  Do you agree with

        28       that?

        29       A.   Yes.

        30

        31       Q.   He probably would think that was too brief?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   But it at least incorporates what I have said, does it

        35       not?

        36       A.   Yes, and that you must - yes.  His over-apology.

        37

        38       Q.   What did he say about over-apology?

        39       A.   He was saying basically the more you blame yourself,

        40       the less others blame you; you really need to apologise

        41       from the point of view of getting it to - basically, as

        42       I say, the more you blame yourself, the less others blame

        43       you.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   It was a board member, Mr Polson,

        46       who had suggested Dr Sandman be engaged, wasn't it?

        47       A.   That's correct.
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         1

         2       Q.   Did he speak to you about that?

         3       A.   No.

         4

         5       Q.   Who did he speak to about that?

         6       A.   I believe he spoke to Andrew Lindberg.

         7

         8       Q.   And Mr Lindberg spoke to you thereafter?

         9       A.   Yes.

        10

        11       Q.   And what was it that you understood Mr Polson would

        12       have said to Mr Lindberg?

        13       A.   Basically that he had had experience with

        14       Professor Sandman in some other capacity and that it would

        15       be worth us talking to him.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   Q.   This seems to be a discussion about an

        18       apology or an over-apology or a contrition statement in a

        19       vacuum.  That's the impression that one gets from your

        20       evidence up to the 16 December teleconference; would you

        21       agree with that?

        22       A.   Yes.  Other than the background information.

        23

        24       Q.   So there was no discussion at this teleconference

        25       that, well, you could apologise for this matter, you could

        26       express contrition for that matter - there was no list,

        27       nobody worked through a list of particular matters that may

        28       or may not be the subject of a contrition statement?

        29       A.   I don't recall a particular list, but there may well

        30       have been discussion around particular matters.  But

        31       I don't recall a particular list.

        32

        33       Q.   The next thing that happened, if we follow the

        34       chronology, is arrangements for another teleconference five

        35       days later, on 21 December 2005.  This was a teleconference

        36       only between yourself and Professor Sandman, and you say

        37       the purpose of this meeting was to discuss his availability

        38       to come to Australia.

        39       A.   I believe so.

        40

        41       Q.   There was no discussion then, so far as you know, of

        42       any matter of substance beyond administrative arrangements?

        43       A.   I don't recall having such discussion.

        44

        45       Q.   It was determined that he wouldn't come to Australia

        46       and then arrangements were put in place for further

        47       telephone conferences; is that right?
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         1       A.   Yes, although there was a point in time where we

         2       weren't sure whether he would come to Australia, in that he

         3       was going on holidays and there was a possibility that he

         4       might be able to change his holidays and come out to

         5       Australia, but that didn't seem to work out.

         6

         7       Q.   Then you have a reference in your diary to what you

         8       describe as a meeting with Professor Sandman on 28 December

         9       2005.

        10       A.   That's right.

        11

        12       Q.   That was attended by Messrs Lindberg, Cooper, Zwier,

        13       Hargreaves and Fuller and yourself; is that right?

        14       A.   That's right.

        15

        16       Q.   Professor Sandman never made that meeting - I should

        17       say that teleconference?

        18       A.   That's right.

        19

        20       Q.   And the matter was, in effect, stood over until you

        21       were able to re-fix that teleconference with him, and you

        22       had that on 2 January 2006?

        23       A.   That's right.

        24

        25       Q.   But before that meeting or that teleconference on

        26       2 January you had circulated a document.  You say:

        27

        28            A copy of a draft statement of contrition

        29            headed "Cole Inquiry Draft Statement of

        30            Contrition" ...

        31

        32       You refer to it by barcode number - and we might bring this

        33       up - AWB.0424.0121.  We find a copy of it at page 240 of

        34       the annexures to your statement.  If we are still on the

        35       air electronically, could we bring up that document -

        36       AWB.0424.0121.  I can give you a WST number.  It is

        37       WST.0042.0266.  This is the document that was circulated

        38       prior to the arranged meeting on 2 January.  Would you

        39       agree with that?

        40       A.   That's right.

        41

        42       Q.   Who drafted that document?

        43       A.   I don't know for sure.  I know it was sent to me

        44       from - I believe it was sent to me from Claire Beeton, who

        45       works up in Andrew Lindberg's area.  So I don't know

        46       whether it was Andrew or Andrew in conjunction with someone

        47       else.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you have any documents or emails or covering notes

         3       that would indicate the source of this document?

         4       A.   No.  I just have this email from Claire Beeton.

         5

         6       Q.   When you say "this email from Claire Beeton", is that

         7       the document at page 245?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   The subject of that email is "AL's statement".  The

        11       document or the email was copied to Mr Lindberg and to

        12       Louise Grills, Louise Grills being?

        13       A.   Andrew Lindberg's executive assistant.

        14

        15       Q.   And Claire Beeton, you said she worked up in that

        16       area.  What --

        17       A.   She is another executive assistant.

        18

        19       Q.   For whom did she work?  Was she assigned to a

        20       particular AWB executive?

        21       A.   I don't believe so.  I think - there's two or three

        22       executive assistants that work in the office of the

        23       managing director.

        24

        25       Q.   So she works in the office of the managing director?

        26       A.   Yes, which includes corporate secretary and - yes,

        27       basically --

        28

        29       Q.   Were you expecting to receive this document?  Had you

        30       made arrangements that somebody should provide a draft as a

        31       talking point and for the purpose of having it circulated

        32       and for the purpose of Professor Sandman --

        33       A.   I don't remember specifically making arrangements, but

        34       it would appear, from that email, that we had had

        35       discussion around producing some form of document that

        36       would be circulated amongst the group.

        37

        38       Q.   If we go to page 246, you have copied the document or

        39       caused the document to be copied to Messrs Cooper, Zwier,

        40       Professor Sandman, Messrs Hargreaves and Fuller?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   As pre-reading for the hook-up on Monday, 2 January

        44       2006?

        45       A.   That's correct.

        46

        47       Q.   Did you then expect that this had been a statement
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         1       prepared under the supervision of Mr Lindberg?

         2       A.   As I say, I'm not sure exactly, but I would assume,

         3       having come from Claire Beeton, whether Andrew actually

         4       wrote it or someone else, that he would have seen it.

         5

         6       Q.   But this documented did not emanate from Professor

         7       Sandman?

         8       A.   No.

         9

        10       Q.   It emanated from AWB?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Before Professor Sandman made any comments at all

        14       about its content or the approach that it evidenced?

        15       A.   That's right.  After the discussion of the 16th.

        16

        17       Q.   After the discussion of Professor Sandman's approach

        18       on 16 December?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   Did you speak to Mr Lindberg about the content of this

        22       document before the hook-up on 2 January?

        23       A.   I don't specifically recall speaking to him about the

        24       content.

        25

        26       Q.   Did you speak to anybody else about the content of it?

        27       A.   Not that I can recall.

        28

        29       Q.   Did you review the document yourself before the

        30       hook-up on 2 January?

        31       A.   I read it.  Well, I'm sure I would have read it before

        32       the hook-up.

        33

        34       Q.   Was there anything in it that surprised you - that is,

        35       did it contain material of which you were not aware at the

        36       time you read it?

        37       A.   At this stage I was just relying on people putting

        38       their own thoughts forward.

        39

        40       Q.   Was there anything in the document of which you were

        41       not aware at the time you read it - prior to this hook-up

        42       on 2 January 2006?

        43       A.   I don't believe so.

        44

        45       Q.   Have you read it through?

        46       A.   I have just skimmed it.

        47
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         1       Q.   Perhaps you might take a moment or two to read it

         2       through now with that question in mind.

         3       A.   I don't think so.

         4

         5       Q.   Paragraph 1 refers to an acceptance as a result of the

         6       Volcker Inquiry that, in paying money for inland transport

         7       and aftersales service, it paid money to the Iraq

         8       government in contravention of the UN sanctions.  May we

         9       take it that was then your state of mind as well?

        10       A.   Well --

        11

        12       Q.   As an AWB executive, you accepted that in paying money

        13       for inland transport and aftersales service, AWB had paid

        14       money to the Iraq government in contravention of UN

        15       sanctions?

        16       A.   No, not necessarily.  I mean, at that stage, I don't

        17       know that I would have known for sure that there was money

        18       going to the Iraq government in contravention of the

        19       sanctions.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Did you read the Volcker Report?

        22       A.   I read parts of it.

        23

        24       Q.   Those parts referable to AWB?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you accept as at the end of 2005 that,

        28       in paying money for inland transport and aftersales

        29       service, AWB had paid the money to the Iraq government in

        30       contravention of UN sanctions?

        31       A.   No, not necessarily at the end of 2005.  Any knowledge

        32       I would have had coming up to reading this in January would

        33       have most likely come from our legal representatives.

        34

        35       Q.   You understand that I'm being, as I have said when

        36       I opened the proceedings this morning, very careful not to

        37       get into the area of legal professional privilege.

        38       A.   Mmm-hmm.

        39

        40       Q.   But this document was prepared for a meeting, or for a

        41       teleconference that was to take place on 2 January 2006.

        42       That's why I used the words "the end of 2005".  I am simply

        43       wanting you to indicate whether or not, without disclosing

        44       the source, you accepted that in paying money for inland

        45       transport and aftersales service, AWB had paid money to the

        46       government of Iraq in contravention of UN sanctions?

        47       A.   To be frank --
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         1

         2       Q.   Did you accept that?

         3       A.   -- I really didn't know what to accept.  I really

         4       wasn't trying to make sort of judgments about what the

         5       facts were.  I was getting information from legal

         6       representatives as they sort of went through material, at a

         7       high level, and I don't know.  I don't think I knew exactly

         8       what to accept and what not to accept.  I was relying on

         9       other people's knowledge.

        10

        11       Q.   So may we take it, then, that you did not accept that

        12       at that time?

        13       A.   Well, I don't think I actually applied my mind to the

        14       point of saying do I actually believe this is the case.

        15       I mean, people were - this was one of a number of documents

        16       that eventually emanated through the process and people

        17       were putting their own views.

        18

        19       Q.   This is the first document?

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   That is, the first iteration of anything in the nature

        23       of a contrition statement.  It is an AWB document.

        24       A.   Mmm.

        25

        26       Q.   Did you not have a view one way or the other as to

        27       whether or not in paying money for inland transport and

        28       aftersales service AWB had paid money to the government of

        29       Iraq?

        30       A.   From the point of view of that, that came out of the

        31       Volcker Report, then I gathered that was the case.

        32

        33       Q.   What about from your knowledge of matters within AWB,

        34       not from the Volcker Report?

        35       A.   Other than outside the legal process, not necessarily.

        36

        37       Q.   What do you mean by "other than outside the legal

        38       process"?

        39       A.   Well, I mean other than getting information from the

        40       lawyers.

        41

        42       Q.   I am not asking you what they told you, I am asking

        43       you what your view was, regardless of the source:  did you

        44       have a view, leaving aside the Volcker Inquiry --

        45       A.   Right.

        46

        47       Q.   -- that AWB had paid money for inland transport and
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         1       aftersales service to the Iraq government?

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, could I rise to object on this

         4       basis:  The problem that confronts the witness, having

         5       regard to the way in which her evidence has unfolded, is

         6       the real likelihood that to respond to my friend's

         7       questions, she will implicitly expose privileged

         8       communications.

         9

        10            Now, I accept that my friend has carefully set about

        11       to avoid traversing that area, but given what the witness

        12       has said about her state of knowledge and the way in which

        13       the question was put, it does seem to tend in the direction

        14       of exposing privileged communications, and if that is to be

        15       the result of an answer, then it should not be given for

        16       that reason.

        17

        18            My friend can ask about ordinarily her knowledge from

        19       other sources.  The problem is that she has said that the

        20       source of her knowledge is at least significantly from

        21       legal advisers.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I did not understand the witness to say

        24       that her sole source of knowledge was the legal advice.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   No.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I thought that was the area that

        29       Mr Agius was exploring.

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   With respect, you are correct, Commissioner.

        32       She didn't say it was her sole source of knowledge, but it

        33       is the problem of differentiating and what the result is in

        34       differentiating - does one then expose the privileged

        35       communication?  Perhaps it might be said that I'm rising

        36       prematurely, but having been caught short on previous

        37       occasions by perhaps not rising quickly enough, I want to

        38       alert the Commissioner and my friend to what we perceive to

        39       be a real risk.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Agius.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   You understand, Ms Gillingham, that AWB -

        44       and I am not in any way criticising my learned friend - has

        45       taken the point of legal professional privilege over

        46       communications in the nature of advice from AWB's lawyers

        47       to you.  I don't want to explore that area in deference to
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         1       the claim.  Surely you must have spoken to other executives

         2       at AWB after the Volcker Inquiry report was published,

         3       about whether or not you and those other executives

         4       accepted at least one of the conclusions of the Volcker

         5       Inquiry, which was that in paying money for inland

         6       transport and aftersales service, AWB had paid money to the

         7       Iraq government.

         8       A.   I don't recall having any follow-up discussion with

         9       any other executives in relation to that matter.

        10

        11       Q.   No follow-up discussion with any executive at AWB in

        12       relation to perhaps the key finding against AWB in the

        13       Volcker Report; is that what you say?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   Are you serious?

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   Surely there would have been conversation about

        20       nothing else?

        21       A.   I don't recall detail - any discussions about whether

        22       in fact - I mean, I can recall some discussion around the

        23       fact that the trucking company was in fact a trucking

        24       company, but that's the extent of the discussion.

        25

        26       Q.   You see, I know it is August 2006, but by the end of

        27       2005 not only were you aware of the Volcker Inquiry and its

        28       report, but you were aware as well that this inquiry had

        29       been established.  You had duties in relation to providing

        30       documents in response to notices issued by this inquiry.

        31       Some might say that it is unimaginable that you and other

        32       executives with you would not have discussed the core

        33       finding of the Volcker Inquiry that AWB had paid money for

        34       inland transport and aftersales service to the government

        35       of Iraq --

        36

        37       MR ABBOTT:   I object.  Some might say that, some might not

        38       say it.  The issue --

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   I haven't finish the question.

        41

        42       MR ABBOTT:   It doesn't seem to be a question, with

        43       respect.  It seems to be a statement more properly made

        44       in --

        45

        46       MR AGIUS:   If you let me finish it, you will have the

        47       question.
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         1

         2       Q.   Some might say that:  what do you say?

         3

         4       MR ABBOTT:   It is a good try, but I still object.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will allow it.

         7

         8       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I am just giving you an opportunity to

         9       provide your evidence on this point.

        10       A.   Sorry, what was the question again?

        11

        12       Q.   Let me put it to you bluntly:  I put it to you that it

        13       is inconceivable that executives at AWB, including

        14       yourself, did not discuss what I suggest to you was a key

        15       finding of the Volcker Inquiry that AWB had paid money for

        16       inland transport and aftersales service to the Iraq

        17       government.

        18

        19       MR ABBOTT:   I object to that question.  It is not put

        20       bluntly.  If it is put bluntly to her "Did you discuss it",

        21       I have no objection.  But this question involves her

        22       speculating on what other people might have discussed in

        23       her absence.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, it doesn't.  It says "including

        26       yourself".

        27

        28       MR ABBOTT:   Yes, I know.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will allow the question.

        31

        32       THE WITNESS:   I don't recall having a discussion around

        33       this issue.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Am I to understand that the ELG -

        36       the group of senior executives of AWB - did not ever

        37       discuss the Volcker findings?

        38       A.   I certainly don't recall a detailed discussion of the

        39       Volcker findings, other than "This is what they are."

        40       I think when the Volcker Report came out, which was in --

        41

        42       Q.   27 October 2005?

        43       A.   -- October - or maybe when the draft - there was an

        44       issue --

        45

        46       Q.   You had a draft early in October.  The final draft was

        47       on 27th October.
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         1       A.   Or September - October.  I recall getting a copy,

         2       reading it.  I just don't recall a detailed discussion

         3       about the finding.

         4

         5       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you go to anybody at international

         6       sales and marketing and say "Is this true?  Did this really

         7       happen?  Have we been paying money to the Iraq government?"

         8       Did you ask any of those questions of anybody within AWB?

         9       A.   No, I certainly didn't go to anyone in international

        10       sales and marketing.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you go to Mr Lindberg?

        13       A.   No.

        14

        15       Q.   Did you say, "Could it be that this is what has been

        16       going on?", or words to that effect?

        17       A.   No, I don't recall having that discussion.

        18

        19       Q.   Did you accept what Volcker had written in his final

        20       report about AWB --

        21       A.   I did --

        22

        23       Q.   -- in that regard?

        24       A.   I would have accepted it, but on the basis of very

        25       little personal knowledge or involvement.  So there was no

        26       reason really in terms of me not accepting it.

        27

        28       Q.   I am just trying to isolate what it was that AWB had

        29       in mind it might express contrition for as at 2 January

        30       2006.  Did you have in mind that AWB was considering

        31       expressing contrition because these findings had been made,

        32       or did you have in mind that AWB was considering expressing

        33       contrition because it had paid money for inland transport

        34       and aftersales service to the Iraqi Government?

        35       A.   I was really relying on people with more information

        36       and more knowledge of the matters to be determining what we

        37       were expressing contrition over.

        38

        39       Q.   So when I asked you earlier whether or not, when you

        40       read this document, there was anything in it of which you

        41       were not otherwise aware and you said "no", that wasn't an

        42       accurate answer?

        43       A.   From the point of view of I just - I just didn't know.

        44       So this may have been correct.  I just didn't have any

        45       information.

        46

        47       Q.   What about the second paragraph, first sentence:
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         1

         2            Even though there were warning signs to

         3            some employees that this may have been

         4            occurring, AWB did not challenge these

         5            payments ....

         6

         7       Just take that part of the sentence.  Did you accept as at

         8       the date of this document that there were warning signs to

         9       some employees that AWB was paying money on account of

        10       inland transport and aftersales service to the Iraq

        11       government?

        12       A.   From the point of view of having received advice from

        13       the legal team that there were potential warning --

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   The witness shouldn't disclose the advice

        16       directly or indirectly, Commissioner.  I rise really to

        17       interrupt the witness, rather than persuade my friend to

        18       adopt a position.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        21

        22       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Gillingham, imagine I am holding up a

        23       big sign which says, "Don't tell me what the lawyers told

        24       you".  That sign stands over my head while I am asking you

        25       these questions --

        26       A.   Okay.

        27

        28       Q.   -- as long as the objection is taken, so please don't

        29       enter that area.  Did you accept that there were warning

        30       signs to some employees that payments may have been being

        31       made for inland transport and aftersales service to the

        32       Iraq government?

        33

        34       MR ABBOTT:   I rise, Commissioner, because it poses an

        35       insurmountable difficulty for this witness, because if her

        36       acceptance comes as a result of something the lawyers told

        37       her, then in my submission saying "yes" reveals or tends to

        38       reveal the content of the privileged communication.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   I doubt that.  I will allow the

        41       question.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I will just repeat it to you, because

        44       I was being careful with that question.  I don't want you

        45       to miss it:  did you accept that there were warning signs

        46       to some employees that payments may have been being made

        47       for inland transport and aftersales service to the Iraq
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         1       government?

         2       A.   Yes.

         3

         4       Q.   Did you accept that in pursuing its constitutional

         5       requirement to maximise returns to the Australian farmer in

         6       selling wheat, AWB took a commercial and technical

         7       compliance approach to the UN sanctions?

         8       A.   I didn't know.  I didn't know enough of the detail,

         9       but, yes, I probably would have accepted that as a

        10       possibility.

        11

        12       Q.   Did you accept that AWB had thereby failed to consider

        13       the broader purposes of the United Nations sanctions?

        14       A.   Again, without knowing the details of the matter or

        15       the sanctions, yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you accept that this was a failure at that time of

        18       the culture, systems and procedures, which the company

        19       regretted?

        20       A.   In a broad sense, yes.  If that was what occurred,

        21       then there was obviously a failure in - some form of

        22       failure in culture or systems or procedures.

        23

        24       Q.   When you read paragraph 4 of the statement, did you

        25       understand it to be a reference to the Tigris matter?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Did you accept that that transaction should not have

        29       occurred without specific authorisation of the Australian

        30       Government and the United Nations?

        31       A.   Again, I didn't know enough of the detail to know

        32       whether that was correct or not.

        33

        34       Q.   So you didn't know enough to know whether or not you

        35       could accept that statement?

        36       A.   Yes.  It may have been correct or it may not.

        37

        38       Q.   Did you speak to Mr Lindberg, then, about this

        39       statement to the extent to which it referred to material

        40       about which you say you didn't know enough?

        41       A.   No.  Again, I didn't actually see myself running my

        42       own inquiry at this stage.  I mean, we were basically flat

        43       out trying to produce documents and I was spending very

        44       little time on this and I wasn't - I didn't think it was

        45       appropriate for me to start going and running my own

        46       independent inquiry about these matters.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Weren't you to participate in this

         2       discussion about this document - you being the second-most

         3       senior executive of AWB so participating?

         4       A.   I was certainly involved.  My participation - I'm not

         5       sure how extensive it would have been, because I didn't

         6       have a lot of knowledge of the matters.  There were people

         7       involved that had more knowledge.

         8

         9       Q.   There was only Mr Lindberg and Mr Cooper, apart from

        10       yourself, who were executives?

        11       A.   I think Dr Fuller was an executive.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Q.   This was to be a key part of AWB's

        14       strategy, was it not, this expression of contrition?

        15       A.   I'm not sure at that stage a key part.  It was an

        16       interesting approach that was being explored.

        17

        18       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Dr Fuller was not to partake in

        19       this 2 January meeting.  It was Mr Cooper, Mr Zwier,

        20       Mr Sandman and Mr Lindberg, according to paragraph 51 of

        21       your statement.

        22       A.   I thought - well, that - yes.  This was the second --

        23

        24       Q.   Paragraph 51.

        25       A.   The actual hook-up did have Dr Fuller, but --

        26

        27       Q.   So he was going to partake in the discussion without

        28       seeing the document?

        29       A.   Yes.  He was certainly on the invitee list.

        30

        31       MR ABBOTT:   Commissioner, in paragraph 54, that lists the

        32       attendees and Dr Fuller is one of them.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I understand that.  I am

        35       wondering how he participated if he wasn't given the

        36       document in advance to think about it - anyway.

        37

        38       MR ABBOTT:   Yes.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you see in paragraph 54 you say that

        41       the meeting was attended by Messrs Lindberg, Cooper, Zwier,

        42       Hargreaves, Fuller and Sandman.  In paragraph 51 you say

        43       that you had circulated this document to Messrs Cooper,

        44       Zwier, Sandman and Lindberg?

        45       A.   Yes.

        46

        47       Q.   Does that mean that Messrs Fuller and Hargreaves did
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         1       not receive a copy of this document before the meeting on

         2       2 January 2006?

         3       A.   I'm not sure.  I expect - yes, I just don't know

         4       whether they received it in advance or not or at the

         5       meeting.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   Paragraph 53 suggests something was

         8       sent to those people, but what it was is not clear to me.

         9

        10       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What do you mean in paragraph 53?  You

        11       refer to emails at pages 246 to 248.  They would appear to

        12       be emails covering --

        13       A.   That was this --

        14

        15       Q.   -- the document about which I have been asking you

        16       questions?

        17       A.   Yes, and it was circulated to Cooper, Zwier, Sandman,

        18       Hargreaves, Fuller.

        19

        20       Q.   And then what you say there in paragraph 53 is:

        21

        22            ... I arranged for the above draft

        23            statements to be sent to Messrs Cooper,

        24            Zwier, Sandman, Hargreaves, Fuller and

        25            Lindberg (Mr Lindberg faxed Sandman

        26            version).

        27

        28       A.   I believe Mr Lindberg was on leave and we got some

        29       comments back from Mr Sandman, so those comments, including

        30       the original document, were faxed to Mr Lindberg.

        31

        32       Q.   When you say the "comments back" from Professor

        33       Sandman, are they the comments which are incorporated in

        34       the document as at 241 through to 244 of your annexures?

        35       A.   I think it's 247 to 252.

        36

        37       Q.   Can I ask you to go to 241 - WST.0042.0267?

        38       A.   Okay, yes.  Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   That's a document which was partly in bold type,

        41       partly in standard type?

        42       A.   Yes.

        43

        44       Q.   It appears to include commentary on Mr Lindberg's

        45       draft, the commentary being from Professor Sandman; would

        46       you agree with that?

        47       A.   That's right.
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         1

         2       Q.   When you said in paragraph 53:

         3

         4            (Mr Lindberg faxed Sandman version)

         5

         6       Do you mean that Mr Lindberg was faxed a copy of the

         7       document that we see at paginated pages 241 through to 244?

         8       A.   Yes.

         9

        10       Q.   Was a copy of that document provided to the other

        11       persons, Messrs Cooper, Zwier, Hargreaves and Fuller, prior

        12       to the teleconference on 2 January?

        13       A.   I believe so.

        14

        15       MR ABBOTT:   Commissioner, could I refer you to page 261,

        16       which is the direction to Mr Cooper to fax, the very

        17       document that my learned friend is talking about to

        18       Mr Lindberg.

        19

        20       MR AGIUS:   Q.   So everybody who attended the meeting on

        21       2 January for the purpose of the teleconference had both of

        22       Mr Lindberg's document, which is the document that appears

        23       at paginated page 240 - WST.0042.0266 - and a document

        24       which incorporated Mr Lindberg's document but also

        25       incorporated Professor Sandman's comments?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       MR AGIUS:   That, for the record, can be found at

        29       WST.0042.0267 through to and inclusive of 0270.

        30

        31            Mr Commissioner, I know it is a little early, but

        32       might we break now?  We could use some additional time to

        33       go through some material that has been lately received.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, very well.  We will adjourn until

        36       2 o'clock.

        37

        38       LUNCHEON ADJOURNMENT

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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         1       UPON RESUMPTION:

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Gillingham, do I quickly understand

         4       this, that as between AWB and Professor Sandman, you were

         5       the point of contact at AWB?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   To the best of your knowledge, is it the case that

         9       Mr Lindberg never had any conversations with Mr Sandman

        10       where you were not present?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   In fact, you were present during all of the

        14       conversations that anybody at AWB had with Professor

        15       Sandman?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   You spoke earlier of over-apology.  It was never part

        19       of the strategy, was it, that AWB in any of the contrition

        20       documents should refer to facts which it did not believe to

        21       be true?

        22       A.   No.  That's right.

        23

        24       Q.   You agree?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   For example, it was not intended that AWB in this

        28       contrition statement should set out matters of fact and

        29       apologise for them if it did not agree that the matters of

        30       fact were based in truth?

        31

        32       MR ABBOTT:   I object to that, Commissioner.  There is a

        33       difference between something that is in the process of

        34       being prepared and is under consideration and the final

        35       document.  This question refers, in my respectful

        36       submission, to the final document.  Obviously, it was never

        37       intended that anything in a final document, as far as this

        38       witness is concerned, would represent anything other than

        39       what was to be.  But if we're talking about a document that

        40       underwent evolution, which apparently is the case with

        41       these documents, then the question is not fair.  If my

        42       learned friend is intending to have this witness consent or

        43       assent to the fact that every time anything was ever put in

        44       any draft of any of these documents, she had to stand up

        45       and say something about it if she didn't agree with it,

        46       then I say it is not a fair question.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, I will allow it.  There is an

         2       obvious answer to your proposition, Mr Abbott.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you recall the question?

         5       A.   Could you repeat it, please?

         6

         7       Q.   It was not intended that AWB in this contrition

         8       statement should set out matters of fact and apologise for

         9       them if it did not agree that the matters of fact were

        10       based in truth?

        11       A.   Well, in the final version, no, but, I mean, it was a

        12       matter of many people providing a variety of input into it.

        13

        14       Q.   I just want you for a moment, with the greatest

        15       respect to my learned friend Mr Abbott, to put out of your

        16       mind this concept of the final version.  At any time during

        17       the working through of the strategy, it was never intended

        18       that even a draft of a contrition statement would contain

        19       matters of fact or matters which were alleged to be matters

        20       of fact which were not true, was it?

        21       A.   Certainly not from my perspective.  I wouldn't expect

        22       things that weren't true to be in people's drafts, but on

        23       the other hand, I didn't have enough information to know.

        24

        25       Q.   I'm not being critical of you in this regard, I am

        26       just asking you what your understanding of the process was?

        27       A.   Right.

        28

        29       Q.   Clearly enough, there were going to be a number of

        30       versions, and they were going to be worked through.  I just

        31       want to be sure that you never understood the process to be

        32       that AWB would put down material --

        33       A.   Would make up material.

        34

        35       Q.   -- in any of these statements which it knew not to be

        36       true?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   That was never part of the process, was it?

        40       A.   No, not from my --

        41

        42       Q.   Dr Sandman --

        43

        44       MR ABBOTT:   Hang on, she was saying "not from my point of

        45       view".  I think your question may have come in over the top

        46       of that.

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Yes.

         2

         3       Q.   Dr Sandman never suggested at any time, did he, that

         4       AWB should include in any contrition statement anything

         5       that it didn't believe to be true?

         6       A.   No, it didn't.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Nor would I expect any AWB

         9       executive to advance in a draft anything if they didn't

        10       believe it to be true?

        11       A.   No.

        12

        13       MR AGIUS:   Q.   If we go to WST.0042.0267, which is at

        14       page 241 of your annexures, we have the composite document

        15       containing the paragraphs from Mr Lindberg's first draft,

        16       which is at page 240 of your annexures - WST.0042.0266 -

        17       together with, in bold, the comments or suggested

        18       amendments by Professor Sandman; is that right?

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   If we bring up the second page, WST.0042.0268,

        22       paginated page 242, you will see as part of Professor

        23       Sandman's draft of suggested amendments, he sets out in

        24       paragraphs 2.3:

        25

        26            With respect to those AWB employees who had

        27            intimate involvement in these transactions,

        28            I see several possibilities ....

        29

        30       This being a statement that was meant to come from

        31       Mr Lindberg.  And there are four set out; namely, that some

        32       may have actively known or suspected what was going on;

        33       some may have avoided knowledge; some may have known or

        34       suspected what was going on and considered it ethically

        35       significant and had not felt it safe to take any action;

        36       and, fourthly, some may have convinced themselves that the

        37       signs did not mean what they appeared to mean, et cetera.

        38

        39            At the bottom of that, Professor Sandman defines

        40       "employees" to extend also to the former chairman of the

        41       board of AWB "who was heavily involved in some OFF

        42       transactions".  Where did Dr Sandman get that information

        43       from?

        44       A.   As I put in my statement, I don't recall specifically,

        45       or I don't recall where he would have got that information

        46       from.  There may have been some comment in one of the

        47       discussions that the chairman had been involved in relation
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         1       to overseas transactions, but I just don't recall the

         2       specific comment.

         3

         4       Q.   Do you recall that there was some comment that the

         5       chairman may have been heavily involved in some OFF

         6       transactions being made in the course of any teleconference

         7       with Professor Sandman?

         8       A.   I don't recall specifically that being said, but there

         9       may well have been some discussion about it.  I don't know.

        10       I just can't recall.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   This is prior to the second group

        13       conference, is it not, the first being on 16 December?

        14       A.   Yes.  Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   And this is before 2 January.

        17       A.   Yes.

        18

        19       Q.   So there is only one --

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   -- apart from for one which you had to make

        23       arrangements?

        24       A.   That's right, and the Volcker information that was

        25       provided as part of the background material.  So we

        26       provided him with the background material that's in here.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't recall anything in the Volcker

        29       Report that refers to Mr Flugge - I may be wrong about

        30       that.

        31

        32       MR AGIUS:   He is referred to, but not as being heavily

        33       involved in any OFF transactions.

        34

        35       Q.   Was it your belief, as at the end of 2005, that the

        36       former chairman of the board of AWB, Mr Flugge, had been

        37       heavily involved in some oil-for-food transactions?

        38       A.   I don't think I would have known in any detail.

        39       I would have, I think, had a belief that the chairman had

        40       been at various stages - my understanding was that the

        41       chairman had been involved in some overseas transactions

        42       during his period of chairmanship.  So I would have had a

        43       very general belief that the chairman was - had some level

        44       of involvement in overseas transactions and he had -

        45       I think I would have been aware certainly that he had

        46       visited Iraq.

        47
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         1       Q.   When you say "overseas transactions", are you meaning

         2       to refer to oil-for-food transactions --

         3       A.   Oh, just general --

         4

         5       Q.   -- involving Iraq?

         6       A.   General international sales and marketing.  But the

         7       fact that he had in fact visited Iraq, I suppose, would

         8       have indicated to me that he had had some level of

         9       involvement.  But I wouldn't know the detail.

        10

        11       Q.   Can you recall who it was that might have told

        12       Professor Sandman in the previous wide-ranging discussion

        13       that Mr Flugge had been heavily involved in some

        14       oil-for-food transactions?

        15

        16       MR ABBOTT:   I object.

        17

        18       THE WITNESS:   No.

        19

        20       MR ABBOTT:   I object.  There is an assumption that he had

        21       to be told.  He could have read it.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   Whereabouts?

        24

        25       MR ABBOTT:   I don't know what documents Mr Sandman got.

        26       This witness knows what she --

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   We do.  It is in one of the previous

        29       emails.

        30

        31       MR ABBOTT:   Yes, we know that's what as far as she is

        32       aware he received, but what searches Mr Sandman made of his

        33       own motion in terms of documentation - I mean, there was a

        34       lot of documentation freely available which Mr Sandman

        35       could have had.  I don't know what Mr Sandman had.  This

        36       witness certainly doesn't know what Mr Sandman had.  She

        37       can say what she sent to or arranged to be sent to

        38       Mr Sandman.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   We know that already.  This is very

        41       specific.  This is "was heavily involved in some OFF

        42       transactions".

        43

        44       THE WITNESS:   I don't recall who said, if indeed anyone

        45       did say.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   Unless he made it up, somebody
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         1       told him?

         2       A.   Yes, or whether they - whether it was said exactly

         3       this way or whether it was, "The chairman played an active

         4       role in overseas transactions", I really just can't recall

         5       the nature of that.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Q.   What was the reaction in the meeting on

         8       2 January when these two documents were discussed to that

         9       statement in this document by Professor Sandman?

        10       A.   Again, I can't - I'm not actually sure in that meeting

        11       that we went through this statement in sort of paragraph by

        12       paragraph detail.

        13

        14       Q.   What happened in the meeting?

        15       A.   Well, I think again it was a general discussion.

        16

        17       Q.   You had circularised or circulated these two

        18       documents --

        19       A.   Yes.

        20

        21       Q.   -- Mr Lindberg's document and Mr Sandman's document

        22       incorporating Mr Lindberg's document, specifically for the

        23       purpose of having them available to be discussed on

        24       2 January?

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   Are you saying that in spite of that, they were not

        28       discussed on 2 January?

        29       A.   I'm just saying I can't recall discussing them in

        30       detail around individual points and paragraph by paragraph.

        31

        32       Q.   Did anybody make notes on the AWB side?

        33       A.   Again, I'm not sure.  I didn't.  I don't know whether

        34       any of the others did.

        35

        36       Q.   Was nobody designated as note-taker?

        37       A.   No.  Nobody was designated, in that it was a general

        38       discussion.

        39

        40       Q.   But it wasn't going to be a general discussion, was

        41       it?  You had envisaged that this would be a discussion

        42       about the two drafts and how they would be used?

        43       A.   Well, again, we were exploring this as a possibility.

        44       It wasn't that we had, even at that stage, to my

        45       recollection, said, "Right, we are going to have a specific

        46       statement along these lines and now let's sit down and go

        47       through it word by word."  We were still, at that stage,
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         1       really coming to grips with Professor Sandman's philosophy.

         2       We were still exploring how it fitted with AWB, and it

         3       wasn't a matter of saying, "We've now got a detailed

         4       document."  The document was more just a vehicle for

         5       general discussion around the philosophy, as I remember it.

         6

         7       Q.   I take it you had read Dr Sandman's document before

         8       the 2 January meeting?

         9       A.   I expect I would have, yes.

        10

        11       Q.   What was your thought at the suggestion that Mr Flugge

        12       might fall within one of those four categories that

        13       I outlined referred to by Professor Sandman in

        14       paragraph 2.3?

        15       A.   I don't think I thought about it in that level of

        16       detail in terms of looking at it and saying which of those

        17       categories the chairman might fall into.

        18

        19       Q.   Or whether he might fall into any of them at all?

        20       A.   That's right.

        21

        22       Q.   You see, this document was contemplating that whatever

        23       went on, it went on right up to the level of chairman.

        24       Didn't it strike you as a matter worthy of your interest

        25       when you read that?

        26       A.   Well, again, this was Professor Sandman's views on the

        27       basis of some background information and a level of

        28       discussion and his attempt at trying to apply his

        29       philosophy.  I didn't take it that everything he said was

        30       gospel, and that he had all the facts or had interpreted

        31       the facts.

        32

        33       Q.   You have no recollection of anybody in this meeting on

        34       2 January moving to correct anything in Mr Sandman's draft?

        35       A.   No, I don't.

        36

        37       Q.   What was the effect of the discussion then?  What was

        38       the substance or the effect of the discussion that took

        39       place during this teleconference on 2 January?

        40       A.   I can't actually recall the details or much of the

        41       discussion at all, actually, but it would appear, from

        42       piecing together the drafts, that another draft, a

        43       different draft, was produced after the meeting, so there

        44       was presumably some level of discussion and then

        45       Peter Hargreaves went away and developed a new draft, a

        46       totally different draft.  So I'm really just trying to

        47       recollect from piecing things together.
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         1

         2       Q.   Weren't you the person charged with responsibility for

         3       AWB's interaction with Professor Sandman?

         4       A.   From a coordination point of view, yes, but not from a

         5       fact point of view.

         6

         7       Q.   But who had that responsibility?  Who had the

         8       responsibility to drive this aspect of AWB's approach?

         9       A.   From the point of view of more specific or detailed

        10       knowledge than I had, then people like Andrew,

        11       Peter Hargreaves, Jim Cooper, who, from my perspective, had

        12       more detailed knowledge.  So I was coordinating, I was

        13       distributing drafts, I was making the phone calls, I was

        14       setting up meetings, but I wasn't going through in detail

        15       and questioning individual comments.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you ever express an opinion on the strategy?

        18       A.   The apologising strategy?

        19

        20       Q.   Yes.

        21       A.   I can't recall whether I expressed an opinion, but

        22       I did - I suppose I did find it interesting, from my

        23       perspective, as much from an academic point of view, in

        24       that I thought it was an interesting and possibly

        25       well-developed strategy.

        26

        27       Q.   But did you speak about it?  You see, did you say a

        28       word during the course of this meeting on 2 January?

        29       A.   Again, I can't remember exactly what was said, but

        30       probably not a lot.

        31

        32       Q.   You can't remember anything that anybody said in this

        33       meeting?

        34       A.   No.

        35

        36       Q.   How long did the meeting last?

        37       A.   I'd say 30, 40 minutes.

        38

        39       Q.   And indeed you say that your memory in relation to

        40       this is so poor that you really have to reconstruct what

        41       happened at the end of the meeting by reference to

        42       Mr Hargreaves' statement?

        43       A.   Well, by - yes, by reference to the next document

        44       I find is a draft developed by Mr Hargreaves.

        45

        46       Q.   Will you agree that this was an important aspect of

        47       AWB's response to this inquiry, the contemplation of a
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         1       contrition document?

         2       A.   It was important.  It was one aspect that was being

         3       explored, basically because we had had the contact with

         4       Sandman, that was his philosophy.  It was a matter of

         5       applying that and seeing where it got to and where people

         6       were going to be - whether it was going to be something the

         7       organisation was happy with.

         8

         9       Q.   This approach to Professor Sandman had been suggested

        10       by a board member, as you have said?

        11       A.   Yes.

        12

        13       Q.   Who had the responsibility of reporting back to that

        14       member or to the board about the outcome of the approach?

        15       A.   I think it was discussed with the document that went

        16       to the board on the 12th.  So there was a draft that went

        17       to the board that Andrew Lindberg would have taken to the

        18       board.

        19

        20       Q.   That's the draft that we saw as his supplementary

        21       statement, isn't it?

        22       A.   No, I think there is another one in here, in my

        23       statement, that says it was distributed to the board on the

        24       12th.

        25

        26       Q.   Did anybody report to the board on a

        27       meeting-by-meeting basis - that is, meeting by meeting - of

        28       meeting with Professor Sandman?

        29       A.   No, not to my knowledge.

        30

        31       Q.   And so there was no running report kept or record kept

        32       of these conferences?

        33       A.   No.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Just so it is not lost, I think the

        36       reference to Mr Flugge in the final report is to be found

        37       in two footnotes, numbers 518 and 529.

        38

        39       MR AGIUS:   They are the only two that those assisting me

        40       have been able to find.  They say nothing about him being

        41       heavily involved in oil-for-food transactions.

        42

        43       Q.   You know that if any notes were made of these

        44       conversations or teleconferences with Professor Sandman,

        45       there is an obligation to produce them to this inquiry -

        46       are you aware of that?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you know that no notes of either of the two

         3       teleconferences that we have covered during the course of

         4       your evidence have been produced to the inquiry?

         5       A.   No, I'm not aware of whether there has been material

         6       produced or not specifically on this.

         7

         8       Q.   Given what you do know about the association with

         9       Professor Sandman, if it be the case that no notes of

        10       either of these two meetings have been produced to this

        11       inquiry, would that surprise you?

        12       A.   Certainly I didn't have any notes.  I would - I just

        13       don't know whether anyone else had any notes.

        14

        15       Q.   Was Mr Hargreaves given any instructions about

        16       preparing a further draft?

        17       A.   I don't - he wasn't given, to my recollection,

        18       specific instructions about, "Now go away and prepare a

        19       draft according to this framework."  I believe, as far as I

        20       can remember, either he volunteered or, at the end of the

        21       meeting, it was agreed that he would go away and produce

        22       another draft.

        23

        24       Q.   You say at paragraph 57 that on 6 January

        25       Mr Hargreaves sent a completely re-worded draft to yourself

        26       and Mr Cooper, and you annex Mr Hargreaves' draft.  Did you

        27       have any discussions with Mr Hargreaves about the content

        28       of that draft at any time?

        29       A.   No, not that I - I don't believe so.

        30

        31       Q.   Did you read the draft when you received it from

        32       Mr Hargreaves?

        33       A.   I expect I would have read it.

        34

        35       Q.   And you arranged for copies of this draft to be sent

        36       to all of those who had attended the 2 January meeting?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       Q.   For the purpose of having them review Mr Hargreaves'

        40       draft?

        41       A.   Yes.

        42

        43       Q.   We have one of the emails at page 281 of the annexures

        44       to your statement, dated Friday, 6 January, to Messrs

        45       Cooper, Fuller, Zwier, my learned friend Mr Judd,

        46       Mr Sandman, Mr Smith, copied to Mr Hargreaves, also sent to

        47       Ms Thompson, with a note:
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         1

         2            Jill Gillingham has requested that

         3            I forward the attached draft statement to

         4            you for review.  Please note that the

         5            statement has been prepared by the Core

         6            Team and has not as yet been reviewed by

         7            Andrew.  It would be appreciated if you

         8            would please direct any feedback you may

         9            have to Jill Gillingham...by noon on

        10            Monday, 9 January 2006.

        11

        12       Did you receive any feedback?

        13       A.   I believe we did.  We received feedback from

        14       Ian Smith, James Judd and Sandman.

        15

        16       Q.   Any other feedback?

        17       A.   And Peter Sandman.

        18

        19       Q.   Did you have any comments yourself to make on this

        20       document?

        21       A.   No.

        22

        23       Q.   If we go to the document that is Mr Hargreaves' draft,

        24       which we find at WST.0042.0300, and if we go to the last

        25       page, 0302, in the third paragraph, Mr Hargreaves has

        26       apparently written:

        27

        28            A case in point is a separate transaction,

        29            this hearing will learn about involving a

        30            company called Tigris Petroleum.  Tigris

        31            Petroleum was not directly associated with

        32            the Oil-for-Food Program, but involved the

        33            inclusion of a price component in some

        34            contracts to repay a debt owed to an

        35            Australian company by the Iraqi Government.

        36

        37            The arrangements were made quite openly.

        38            It was considered commercially acceptable

        39            and the legal advice to AWB at the time was

        40            that the transaction did not breach

        41            Australian law.  The Australian Government

        42            had some knowledge of the transaction.

        43

        44       I take it you read that part of Mr Hargreaves' draft?

        45       A.   I would assume so.  I assume I would have read through

        46       the whole draft.

        47
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         1       Q.   Did this portion of the draft contain any information

         2       that you didn't otherwise know?

         3       A.   Again, I just say it's - in terms of the details of

         4       this transaction, I didn't have a lot of knowledge of the

         5       details and I wouldn't have - I don't think I would have

         6       even contemplated it.

         7

         8       Q.   What did you understand by the words "The arrangements

         9       were made quite openly"?  What part of the Tigris

        10       transaction did you understand to be attenuated with open

        11       arrangements?

        12       A.   Again, I'd say I wouldn't have spent any time even

        13       thinking of looking at this or thinking about what it

        14       actually meant and my knowledge at the time.

        15

        16       Q.   Why not?

        17       A.   Because I was very busy doing a range of other

        18       activities like, in particular, trying to get documents

        19       produced.  This, as I said earlier, was a very minor part,

        20       in terms of coordinating these activities, sending drafts

        21       out, getting meetings set up - I didn't spend a lot of time

        22       on the actual content.

        23

        24       Q.   You were an executive senior enough to be given the

        25       responsibility for managing AWB over a Christmas period?

        26       A.   Well, again, I - with respect, I'm not sure that's -

        27       I mean, as I said before, I was the only - I think I was

        28       the only executive there.  But, yes, I did do that.

        29

        30       Q.   You were trusted by Mr Lindberg, head-hunted by him

        31       and brought to AWB?

        32       A.   Yes.

        33

        34       Q.   And given significant responsibility?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   You knew that the impact of the Volcker Report itself

        38       had been significant for AWB?

        39       A.   Yes.

        40

        41       Q.   You knew that there was a possibility that the outcome

        42       of this inquiry might be significant for AWB?

        43       A.   Yes.

        44

        45       Q.   You were aware that AWB was attempting a novel

        46       approach with the use of Professor Sandman?

        47       A.   Yes, I was aware that we were exploring Professor
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         1       Sandman's theories.

         2

         3       Q.   It was an approach that interested you?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   And one that you took an interest in?

         7       A.   From the point of view of his actual approach and his

         8       philosophy and reading his articles, but not from the point

         9       of view, again - I mean, I didn't during this period try

        10       and conduct my own investigation.  I didn't have a lot of

        11       knowledge of the details.  I didn't think it was

        12       appropriate for me to start trying to, myself, get to the

        13       bottom of every detail.

        14

        15       Q.   But it seems from your evidence that you didn't think

        16       it was appropriate to get to the surface of any detail at

        17       all, let alone to the bottom of any detail?

        18       A.   Well --

        19

        20       Q.   Is that what you say; you just didn't pay regard to

        21       the content of these drafts?

        22       A.   Well, to a certain degree, yes.

        23

        24       Q.   Who did you understand would be the person or persons

        25       who were to pay regard to the content of the drafts?

        26       A.   If it were eventually to be something that got

        27       produced as an endorsed company position, then it would be

        28       Andrew and the board.

        29

        30       Q.   But what about digging into the drafts to be sure that

        31       what was being put into them was truthful?  Who had that

        32       responsibility?

        33       A.   Again, I didn't see that as my responsibility, on the

        34       basis of having very little information in the first place.

        35

        36       Q.   But whose responsibility was it?  Who did you see as

        37       being responsible for that task?

        38       A.   Well, in the end, if it actually came to anything, it

        39       would be, as I said, Andrew and the board.

        40

        41       Q.   AWB contemplated spending nearly $100,000 to bring

        42       Professor Sandman out to Australia to have these

        43       discussions.

        44       A.   Well --

        45

        46       Q.   Are you saying that you weren't taking these

        47       discussions seriously at the end of 2005 and early 2006?
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         1

         2       MR ABBOTT:   Well, she hasn't said that.

         3

         4       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I said are you saying that?

         5       A.   Sorry, what was that?

         6

         7       Q.   Are you saying that AWB wasn't taking these

         8       discussions with Professor Sandman seriously?

         9       A.   Seriously to the point of saying, as I said before,

        10       this was a perspective, he had a particular thesis and,

        11       yes, we were taking it seriously from the point of view of

        12       trying to understand that thesis and applying it.

        13

        14       Q.   Surely it was a matter of determining what the facts

        15       were, determining which of those facts you were prepared to

        16       express contrition about, and then expressing that

        17       contrition in a way that delivered the message for AWB:

        18       wasn't that the process?

        19       A.   Well, I certainly didn't see it as my role to try and

        20       establish the facts.

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   But whose role was it?

        23       A.   Well --

        24

        25       Q.   I mean, you could hardly draw up a contrition

        26       statement if you don't know what it is you are talking

        27       about.

        28       A.   Well, that's why we --

        29

        30       Q.   Somebody must have determined what are the factual

        31       circumstances they are going to address?

        32       A.   We had broad discussions, a number of drafts, a number

        33       of people putting their perspective on the facts, their

        34       perspective on their application of Sandman's approach, and

        35       it was an iterative process.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Can I ask you to go to the previous page,

        38       page 275, in the second-last paragraph:

        39

        40            However, it is only now clear that some AWB

        41            personnel either knew or suspected that

        42            some of the money was making its way back

        43            to the former Iraqi Government.

        44

        45       Were those AWB personnel ever identified to you?

        46       A.   I don't recollect that they were.

        47
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         1       Q.   Were they people still employed at AWB as at the date

         2       of this draft?

         3       A.   I just don't recollect discussing or having individual

         4       people nominated.

         5

         6       Q.   Well, this document doesn't identify individual people

         7       by name, but it speaks of some AWB personnel either knowing

         8       or suspecting that some of the money was making its way

         9       back to the former Iraqi Government.  Didn't that put you

        10       on inquiry to say:  well, who knew about this?

        11       A.   Well, my understanding of that was, and again having

        12       come from legal review, an indication that some of the

        13       material was indicating that some people had some knowledge

        14       or suspicion, was my understanding of what that was.

        15

        16       Q.   So you accepted that as an accurate factual statement,

        17       that sentence - in fact, there are a number of statements

        18       in that sentence, but did you accept the sentence as being

        19       accurate?

        20       A.   I accepted it on the basis of what I understood from

        21       legal.

        22

        23       Q.   The next document would appear to be Professor

        24       Sandman's response to Mr Hargreaves' draft; would you agree

        25       with that?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   You say in paragraph 59 that Professor Sandman

        29       responded by email dated 7 January.

        30       A.   Yes.

        31

        32       Q.   We have a copy of his response annexed to your

        33       statement at WST.0042.0309.  If we could go to 0310 -

        34       that's WST.0042.0310 - you will see that Professor Sandman

        35       sets out a portion of Mr Hargreaves' draft at the bottom of

        36       the page.  That portion is as follows:

        37

        38            So, in summary there was a contractual

        39            agreement between AWB and the IGB.  There

        40            was also a contract between the IGB and the

        41            inland transport company it chose - Alia

        42            ....  however, there was no contract

        43            between AWB and Alia.

        44

        45       Then Professor Sandman adds this:

        46

        47            But your people visited Alia, presumably to
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         1            check them out and make sure they were up

         2            to the job (or for some other purpose).

         3

         4       Did you hear anybody provide that information to Professor

         5       Sandman?

         6       A.   I'm sorry, I'm not on the right --

         7

         8       Q.   Are you at page two of Professor Sandman's draft?

         9       A.   Okay, yes.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Page 284 of your volume, the last

        12       paragraph.

        13

        14       THE WITNESS:   Thank you.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I will just let you read that portion that

        17       I have read.

        18       A.   Again, I don't recall a specific person or - I don't

        19       recall that actually being said, but it may well have.

        20

        21       Q.   If we go over the page, you will see the fourth

        22       paragraph, Mr Hargreaves' document, or that portion of it

        23       set out, reads:

        24

        25            Certainly someone provided the thousands of

        26            trucks required to distribute each shipment

        27            inland and the wheat reached its inland

        28            destinations.

        29

        30       Do you see that?

        31       A.   Yes.

        32

        33       Q.   Then Professor Sandman has added:

        34

        35            It was you guys who told me you now think

        36            most or all of the inland trucking was

        37            handled by government employees paid $10 a

        38            day.

        39

        40       Do you know who it was who provided that information to

        41       Professor Sandman?

        42       A.   No, I don't recall anyone specific saying that but,

        43       again, it may well have been said.

        44

        45       Q.   But if it was provided to Professor Sandman, it would

        46       have been provided in your presence, would it not?

        47       A.   Yes.
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         1

         2       Q.   Can you recall when it was that that information was

         3       provided to Professor Sandman?

         4       A.   No.

         5

         6       Q.   Are you aware whether that statement was ever

         7       corrected, whether anybody from AWB ever denied providing

         8       that information to Professor Sandman?

         9       A.   No.

        10

        11       Q.   Were you aware of a body of knowledge within AWB at

        12       any time to the effect that most or all of the inland

        13       trucking was handled by government employees paid $10 a

        14       day?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   Have you become aware of it since?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   I take it you read this draft from Professor Sandman?

        21       A.   Again, yes, I would have - I would have read through

        22       it.

        23

        24       Q.   And at least this draft would have been a source of

        25       that information for you then?

        26       A.   Well, yes, from the point of view of him saying that

        27       he had been told that, yes.

        28

        29       Q.   So I take it that it follows, doesn't it, that by this

        30       time, you were aware that AWB had paid something like $300m

        31       worth of inland trucking fees, likely to have gone to the

        32       Iraqis, and you were now aware that most of the inland

        33       trucking had been handled by government employees being

        34       paid $10 a day.  Did that put you on inquiry --

        35       A.   Or that somebody - that Sandman's interpretation was

        36       that somebody had said that.  But, no, I didn't at that

        37       stage believe I needed to investigate it.

        38

        39       Q.   I don't mean to formalise matters when I ask you

        40       whether you did anything; I'm not suggesting that you had

        41       some independent duty to go off and conduct an inquiry of

        42       your own or an investigation.  What I am suggesting to you

        43       is that as a senior executive of AWB, were you not put on

        44       inquiry, given what you knew - $300m worth of inland

        45       transport fees and now you are being told that this wheat

        46       was mostly, if not all, trucked by Iraqis being paid $10 a

        47       day - by Iraqi Government employees being paid $10 a day?
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         1       A.   Sorry, what was --

         2

         3       Q.   Well, let me put it another way:  how was this

         4       resolved?

         5       A.   This particular issue or this draft?

         6

         7       Q.   This particular issue:  Professor Sandman is saying

         8       "You say X in your draft.  You say in your draft certainly

         9       someone provided the thousands of trucks required to

        10       distribute each shipment inland and the wheat reaching its

        11       inland destinations."   Professor Sandman sets that out.

        12       He says that's what's in your draft contrition statement.

        13       But he says "Just a minute, you told me that you now think

        14       that most, if not all, of the inland trucking was handled

        15       by government employees paid $10 a day."  There is a

        16       conundrum there.  How was it solved?

        17       A.   I don't believe these issues were taken up in terms of

        18       resolving the content of what Sandman was saying.

        19       Basically, it got distributed, other people came up with

        20       other information or their view in terms of other drafts.

        21       Certainly neither I nor, to my knowledge, anyone went

        22       through and looked at these issues and attempted to resolve

        23       the issue.

        24

        25       Q.   Why were you paying Professor Sandman US$650 an hour

        26       if nobody was bothering to read - that is, critically

        27       read - and assess what he was writing?

        28       A.   Well, basically, as I said before, Sandman wasn't sort

        29       of part of an inquiry, an internal inquiry; he was an

        30       international expert who had a particular approach and a

        31       particular view, and there was a couple of discussions and

        32       some drafts and we were paying him for his communication

        33       expertise.

        34

        35       Q.   But you weren't really paying him for his input if you

        36       weren't critically analysing or reading what he was saying

        37       to you, were you?  Were you just doing this so that you

        38       could say to the shareholders and the board "Well, we tried

        39       this approach and it didn't work"?

        40

        41       MR ABBOTT:   I object to that.  It misconstrues the role

        42       that my client says she had of collating.  It is put on the

        43       basis that her role in collating in fact should have been

        44       something else, when she says that that's all she did.  The

        45       question, as it is framed, is a question which is put on

        46       the basis that, as it were, she is AWB, whereas in fact she

        47       has explained her role in this as a collating and
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         1       distribution role.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will allow the question.

         4

         5       MR ABBOTT:   The question is unfair.

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will allow the question.

         8

         9       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Ms Gillingham, you have said that you

        10       don't believe anybody was checking this line by line with a

        11       view to checking the factual material in it.  If you

        12       weren't doing that, and indeed if that was your genuine

        13       belief, that nobody was doing that, what was the point of

        14       having Professor Sandman's assistance?

        15       A.   Well, as I say, it was getting some external

        16       communication advice that was not something certainly I,

        17       nor anyone else, I think, had actually been exposed to, and

        18       trying to understand it and trying to see whether it had an

        19       application.  But it wasn't seen as a mechanism for

        20       discovering the truth, if you like.

        21

        22       Q.   Hadn't Professor Sandman said in one of these

        23       teleconferences that what would be very bad is if something

        24       was put in a contrition statement which turned out not to

        25       be true?  Had he not said something to that effect?

        26       A.   Yes, I think so, if that's in these.  He certainly had

        27       a view that anything that ended up in a statement of this

        28       nature obviously needed to be the truth.

        29

        30       Q.   How was it then that nobody in AWB had responsibility

        31       for checking whether or not the factual material in the

        32       proposed draft was accurate?

        33       A.   Well, it was his comments, and this wasn't the final

        34       document and there were going to be many other versions.

        35       So, as they evolved, certainly from my point of view, the

        36       evolution there would be - whatever came out the end,

        37       I would expect to be the truth.

        38

        39       Q.   Well, it seems at least apparent that as at the first

        40       week of January AWB, had told Professor Sandman that it now

        41       believed that most or all of the inland trucking was

        42       handled by government employees paid $10 a day.

        43       A.   Certainly that's what he says here, and I can't

        44       recollect someone saying that particularly or specifically,

        45       but it may well have been said.

        46

        47       Q.   Can I take you to the next paragraph.  Mr Hargreaves
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         1       has written - and I'm assuming that he is the author of

         2       what is referred to as the Hargreaves draft?

         3       A.   I believe so, I received it from Mr Hargreaves.

         4

         5       Q.   And you understand it to be his document?

         6       A.   I do.

         7

         8       Q.   Do you know of anybody else who had input into that

         9       document?

        10       A.   No.  I know he distributed it to myself and to

        11       Jim Cooper.  Jim may have made comments.  I didn't make any

        12       comments.

        13

        14       Q.   May have made comments before it was in this form that

        15       we see it now?

        16       A.   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   When you say he may have made comments, do you mean he

        19       did make comments?

        20       A.   I believe he made some editorial comments.

        21

        22       Q.   Before it was sent off to Professor Sandman?

        23       A.   Yes.

        24

        25       Q.   The next paragraph from Mr Hargreaves reads:

        26

        27            All contracts between AWB and the IGB,

        28            including those involving inland transport,

        29            were approved by the United Nations.

        30

        31       Mr Sandman has written:

        32

        33            It would be nice to know if you think some

        34            UN bureaucrat rubber-stamped these

        35            contracts without half-looking or if you

        36            think the UN officials who approved them

        37            must have been complicit in the kickback

        38            scheme or if you think the UN officials who

        39            approved them probably tried to do a good

        40            job but (unlike AWB) knew far too little

        41            about what's normal in Iraqi wheat trades

        42            to smell a rat, or if you think responsible

        43            and knowledgeable and honest UN officials

        44            went over them carefully and found them not

        45            in the least suspicious.

        46

        47       Did anybody ever provide Professor Sandman with a response
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         1       to that comment?

         2       A.   I don't believe so.

         3

         4       Q.   Well, what was the reaction amongst your colleagues at

         5       AWB to that comment?  What was the feedback?

         6       A.   I don't recall having any discussion about that

         7       comment.

         8

         9       Q.   Was there any acknowledgment that Professor Sandman

        10       had a point there - what was really meant by "approval by

        11       the UN"?

        12       A.   Not to my recollection.  I just don't recall having

        13       any discussion in relation to that.

        14

        15       Q.   It is a point of fundamental importance, though, isn't

        16       it?

        17       A.   In terms - yes.

        18

        19       Q.   And there was no discussion about it?

        20       A.   Not to my recollection.

        21

        22       Q.   Can I take you to the bottom of the previous page and

        23       direct your attention, if you would, to Professor Sandman's

        24       comments at the bottom of that page, in which he said:

        25

        26            The whole list of facts reads to me like a

        27            one-sided effort to look as innocent as you

        28            can look without actually lying.  You are

        29            entitled to do that.  It is a lawyerly

        30            thing to do.  It might be the right thing

        31            to do if you think you are in legal trouble

        32            and need to argue your way out.  Or it

        33            might be the right thing to do if you think

        34            you're being ethically criticised unfairly

        35            and are preparing to say you did nothing

        36            unethical and are the long-suffering

        37            innocent victim of an unfair report from

        38            Volcker and unfair media coverage in

        39            Australia.  It's a terrible way to begin if

        40            you're seeking forgiveness for ethical

        41            misconduct that everyone pretty much knows

        42            wasn't illegal.  It makes the reader want

        43            to cross-examine and counterattack.  It

        44            makes the reader want to find something

        45            illegal to get you for in the face of

        46            Tigris (maybe illegal and not in the least

        47            unethical).  I think that's very much the
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         1            wrong strategy.

         2

         3       Do you know from where Professor Sandman obtained any

         4       information to support his statement "in the face of Tigris

         5       maybe illegal"?

         6       A.   No, I don't, but --

         7

         8       Q.   Were you present when anybody told him words to the

         9       effect that AWB had a concern or a belief that the Tigris

        10       transaction may be illegal?

        11       A.   I don't recall anyone saying that, but it may have

        12       been said at one of the meetings.  But I don't recall.

        13

        14       Q.   If I could ask you to go to page 4 of this draft,

        15       which is your page 286, at the top of the page,

        16       Professor Sandman says this:

        17

        18            There is no agency in this apology and

        19            therefore no apology --

        20

        21       And then (b) --

        22

        23            On what basis do you say your distress

        24            (which you say is "profound") is "shared by

        25            all of at AWB".  You told me many at AWB

        26            thought and still think it was no big deal

        27            that Iraq's money got back to Saddam.  Have

        28            they changed their mind?  Do you mean that

        29            they are distressed that these arrangements

        30            got AWB into trouble?  Or is this the only

        31            statement I have found that goes beyond

        32            half truths and is actually a lie?

        33

        34       Did that provoke any discussion amongst your fellow AWB

        35       executives?

        36       A.   No, I don't - we didn't have a specific discussion to

        37       my knowledge about this.  I think this was seen as

        38       Professor Sandman almost marking a paper in terms of saying

        39       "This is my philosophy and this is my approach" and

        40       providing his comments in terms of what he liked and didn't

        41       like.

        42

        43            As I say in my statement, in relation to that about no

        44       big deal going back to Saddam, the only recollection I have

        45       got of anything like that was a comment that someone made

        46       that maybe Professor Sandman's views or his approach was

        47       more American than Australian in terms of he had a very
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         1       strong view in relation to the evilness of the regime, the

         2       war, and all I can remember is someone saying "Well, you

         3       have perhaps a very American view, and maybe --

         4

         5       Q.   And maybe people in the rest of the world didn't have

         6       a negative view about what the Saddam regime may be up to?

         7       A.   No, not that maybe people didn't have a negative view,

         8       and maybe not that people didn't believe it was evil, but

         9       certainly my recollection was he certainly had a view that

        10       it was possibly the most evil regime in the history of the

        11       world.  Now, that's really all I can remember about it,

        12       because it struck me at the time as someone saying "Well,

        13       that might be more American than Australian".  But that's

        14       all I can recollect that might have ended up with those

        15       comments.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   The problem with that is that what

        18       he is saying is that somebody from amongst the group, of

        19       which you were one, told him that many at AWB thought and

        20       still think it was no big deal that Iraq's money got back

        21       to Saddam?

        22       A.   Yes, I can't recall anyone saying that specifically,

        23       but I only mention the other comments because that is

        24       something that I do remember being said.

        25

        26       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Was it your view that there were at least

        27       some at AWB who thought - that is, who thought as

        28       at January 2006 - that it was no big deal that Iraq's money

        29       got back to Saddam?

        30       A.   No, I don't believe that was my view.

        31

        32       Q.   No, no, was it anybody's view, to your knowledge?

        33       A.   No.  I don't think it was my view that that was - that

        34       people thought that it was no big deal.

        35

        36       Q.   Can you offer any view as to where Professor Sandman

        37       might have got this from --

        38       A.   No.

        39

        40       Q.   -- when he said "You told me many at AWB thought and

        41       still think it was no big deal that Iraq's money got back

        42       to Saddam"?

        43       A.   No, I can't recall someone saying that specifically.

        44

        45       Q.   What he asks at the bottom of that paragraph is:

        46

        47            Is this the only statement I have found
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         1            that goes beyond half truths and is

         2            actually a lie?

         3

         4       The statement he was referring to is the statement on the

         5       previous page wherein it has been written:

         6

         7            I profoundly regret this and my distress

         8            that the former government might have

         9            benefited from these arrangements is shared

        10            by all at AWB.

        11

        12       What Professor Sandman is asking is is it a lie to say that

        13       everybody at AWB shares the distress that the former

        14       government might have benefited from these arrangements?

        15       A.   Yes.

        16

        17       Q.   Was he given an answer?

        18       A.   No.

        19

        20       Q.   Did it concern you that a professional with the

        21       reputation of Professor Sandman might consider that AWB has

        22       lied to him during the course of his retainer?

        23

        24       MR ABBOTT:   I object.  This is not a comment that

        25       Professor Sandman is saying someone has lied to him.

        26       Professor Sandman is suggesting that what is in the words

        27       of the previous paragraph --

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   That what they have written is a lie

        30       and because someone has told him the contrary.

        31

        32       MR ABBOTT:   Yes.

        33

        34       MR AGIUS:   I put that question on the basis that I had

        35       accepted what the witness said that Professor Sandman would

        36       have expected this document to contain truths.

        37

        38       Q.   Let me put it another way:  did it not concern you

        39       that Professor Sandman might be of the view that something

        40       AWB had put into this document might be a lie?

        41       A.   I don't think I - I saw that as part of, as far as I

        42       can remember, Professor Sandman's rather theatrical

        43       approach, so I didn't actually take it as a major slight.

        44

        45       Q.   Did it concern you that many at AWB might still have

        46       thought that it was no big deal that Iraq's money had got

        47       back to Saddam?
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         1       A.   Oh, if that were the case, it would concern me.

         2

         3       Q.   But yet this matter was never corrected with Professor

         4       Sandman?

         5       A.   No.  I don't think we actually had - we did have one

         6       further hook-up on the 13th, but things had gone - there

         7       had been many drafts since this one and we didn't actually

         8       ever discuss this with Sandman.

         9

        10       Q.   Could we go to the next page.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is this 313 or 312?

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   I'm afraid my numbers are very unclear.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   Page 286 or 287?

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   It is 0313, or 287.

        19

        20       Q.   Professor Sandman in the second-last paragraph refers

        21       to what he had been told in a previous call as:

        22

        23            As someone pointed out on one of our

        24            conference calls, the Tigris deal is

        25            ethically clean and legally borderline.

        26

        27       I think you said earlier that that might have been

        28       something that was said?

        29       A.   I said I didn't recall it being said, but it's

        30       possible, given that he has said someone pointed it out,

        31       but I don't recall it being said.

        32

        33       Q.   Did anybody correct him in relation to that?

        34       A.   No.  Again, we didn't actually have a discussion that

        35       related to this.  It had gone - things had developed past

        36       this by the time we spoke to him again.

        37

        38       Q.   He goes on to say:

        39

        40            The OFF scandals are (you tell me) legally

        41            clean but ethically pretty bad.

        42

        43       Did you hear anybody say to Professor Sandman that what had

        44       happened was ethically pretty bad?

        45       A.   No.

        46

        47       Q.   Or words to that effect?
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         1       A.   No, I don't recall anyone saying that, but it might

         2       have been part of the discussion.  I just don't recall.

         3

         4       Q.   Tell me, did any of your fellow executives ever

         5       discuss with you that there was really nothing to apologise

         6       for; that AWB really believed that it had done nothing

         7       wrong?

         8       A.   I don't think I had a discussion in relation to other

         9       executives' beliefs around what was right or what was

        10       correct or not.  So, no, I didn't have a discussion.

        11

        12       Q.   Nobody raised with you what it was that AWB had to

        13       apologise for?

        14       A.   I don't recall any specific discussion, but I do

        15       believe there was some general discussions around when we

        16       were - when there was any discussion around this

        17       philosophy, is this philosophy appropriate in terms of

        18       what's actually being apologised for, but I don't remember

        19       having any detailed discussion about that.

        20

        21       Q.   I am sorry, I just don't quite follow that:  "Is this

        22       philosophy appropriate" -

        23       A.   Sandman's philosophy of apologising.

        24

        25       Q.    -- "in terms of what's actually being apologised

        26       for"; what do you mean by that?

        27       A.   I was trying to answer the question in relation to did

        28       I have discussions with executives around whether there was

        29       anything to apologise for.

        30

        31       Q.   Yes.  I am just trying to understand your answer.

        32       A.   Right.

        33

        34       Q.   You said.

        35

        36            .. when there was any discussion around

        37            this philosophy, is this philosophy

        38            appropriate in terms of what's actually

        39            being apologised for ...

        40

        41       A.   Well, is the apology philosophy appropriate on the

        42       basis of what is it that's being apologised for?

        43

        44       Q.   And what was the answer?

        45       A.   I don't think there was - I'm not actually recalling a

        46       specific discussion, I'm just trying to convey that I can

        47       recall some form of discussion around that in terms - and
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         1       maybe it probably just went through a number of these

         2       meetings that were trying to come to grips with what was

         3       being apologised for.

         4

         5       Q.   What was the result?  Did you come up with anything

         6       worth apologising for?

         7       A.   The result was as this statement went through

         8       iterations, then the end result was, from this point of

         9       view, from this Sandman apology, it more or less died and

        10       it then went into the phase of Andrew Lindberg's

        11       supplementary statement.

        12

        13       Q.   I take it you paid Professor Sandman's bill --

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   -- but didn't operate on any advice that he had given

        17       you?

        18       A.   That's from the point of view of having the

        19       discussions, exploring it, understanding his philosophy,

        20       yes, we paid the bill on that basis.  One doesn't always

        21       accept every piece of external advice.

        22

        23       Q.   In another document, known as "version 9", and I am

        24       just trying to find it as an annexure to your statement --

        25       A.   384, is it?

        26

        27       Q.   No, it is a different version.  Just excuse me for a

        28       moment.  It is one with the name "Peter Sandman" written in

        29       manuscript, at page 401.  Is that Professor Sandman's

        30       handwriting?

        31       A.   No, that is my handwriting.

        32

        33       Q.   This is at WST.0042.0427.  This was prepared to be

        34       sent to Mr Lindberg for his perusal, was it not?

        35       A.   Yes.  This was another draft again that was

        36       circulated.  Then we received Peter Sandman's response to

        37       this one, and this one was circulated and this was my

        38       handwriting where I'd obviously dropped it off to

        39       Andrew Lindberg to say this was the - because I hadn't

        40       circulated him electronically, I'd sent the hard copy of

        41       Sandman's comments.

        42

        43       Q.   Professor Sandman says this:

        44

        45            An earlier draft said Andrew personally saw

        46            some of these warning signs and failed to

        47            note their significance.
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         1

         2       I am about an inch and a half from the bottom of the

         3       page --

         4

         5            And it said he believes others DID

         6            appreciate their significance but chose to

         7            do nothing.

         8

         9       I should interpolate that we don't see that in exhibit 19,

        10       the final version of the statement.  Professor Sandman goes

        11       on:

        12

        13            I don't see the point of removing those

        14            acknowledgments.  If they are true, they

        15            are bound to come out in the testimony; the

        16            questions will be asked and Andrew will

        17            answer truthfully.  What then is the

        18            benefit of having failed to acknowledge

        19            these facts in his introductory statement?

        20            One basic principle here on which I think

        21            we have all agreed is that a contrition

        22            statement loses most of its value if later

        23            evidence reveals there was more to be sorry

        24            for that the contrition statement

        25            intentionally left out.  I tell my clients:

        26            Especially when stakeholders are paying

        27            close attention, you must either keep

        28            embarrassing facts genuinely secret or

        29            wallow in those facts.  Acknowledging them

        30            only reluctantly and under pressure is a

        31            losing strategy.

        32

        33       To your knowledge, did AWB, after this iteration from

        34       Professor Sandman, determine that it would attempt to keep

        35       embarrassing facts genuinely secret?

        36       A.   No, that was not my belief.

        37

        38       Q.   Do you know how it came about that the deletions of

        39       the material to which Professor Sandman speaks - do you

        40       know how it came about that those deletions were made?

        41       A.   No.  That would have just been in another draft, and

        42       in fact there were many drafts that had occurred since

        43       Sandman had provided these comments.

        44

        45       Q.   If these drafts were being provided as you have told

        46       us earlier on the basis that they were not to contain

        47       deliberate untruths, what would be the basis of removing
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         1       from an earlier draft a statement that Mr Lindberg

         2       personally saw some of the warning signs and failed to note

         3       their significance?

         4

         5       MR ABBOTT:   I object to that.  That's a question that the

         6       person who removed the material from the draft only can

         7       answer.  Inviting my client to speculate on why someone

         8       else might have done something is, in my submission,

         9       unfair.

        10

        11       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Well, did you have any discussions with

        12       Mr Lindberg about the removal from any earlier draft of a

        13       reference to what he had personally seen in the way of

        14       warning signs?

        15       A.   No.

        16

        17       Q.   Did you have any discussions with him about the

        18       removal from the draft of what he believes others did

        19       appreciate but chose to do nothing about?

        20       A.   No.

        21

        22       Q.   Do you know how those matters came to be deleted from

        23       earlier drafts?

        24       A.   No, other than if I went - I would have to go back

        25       through the drafts and see exactly where they - on which

        26       draft they disappeared, but I don't - certainly don't know

        27       off the top of my head.

        28

        29       Q.   I'm not asking you which drafts, I'm asking do you

        30       know anything of the circumstances in which they --

        31       A.   No.

        32

        33       Q.   -- came to be deleted from the drafts?

        34       A.   No.  No.

        35

        36       Q.   It would be your expectation that if something was put

        37       into a draft of a factual nature of that kind in the first

        38       place, that an effort would have been made to ensure that

        39       it was true?

        40       A.   Well, whoever drafted it, yes, would - I would expect

        41       that they would believe it was true.

        42

        43       Q.   Can I ask you now to go to your statement at page 18.

        44       In paragraph 62 you say:

        45

        46            I do not know anything about the accuracy

        47            of what was contained in the statement --
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         1

         2       And you are there referring to the Hargreaves draft and in

         3       particular you had touched upon reference to the Tigris

         4       transaction --

         5

         6            (or any other draft of the statement) other

         7            than that I had read some relevant sections

         8            of the Volcker Report and AWB's response.

         9            I assumed AWB's response was accurate, but

        10            my knowledge was only secondary.  Others

        11            within our group were putting forward their

        12            own drafts which they did from their own

        13            knowledge but not as a result of

        14            discussions of the facts with me.

        15

        16       I just want to ask you about that last sentence.  Were you

        17       speaking there of others bringing forward their own drafts

        18       of a contrition statement?

        19       A.   No, the drafts that are actually set out in - attached

        20       to my statement.

        21

        22       Q.   Well, who were the others?  We know that there is

        23       Peter Hargreaves and we know there is Ian Smith.  Were

        24       there any others within AWB who were putting forward their

        25       own drafts from their own knowledge but not as a result of

        26       discussions of the facts with you?

        27       A.   There were drafts from Andrew Lindberg, Peter

        28       Hargreaves and --

        29

        30       Q.   There was one from Ian Smith?

        31       A.   And there were comments from Ian Smith and some

        32       comments from James Judd.

        33

        34       Q.   Were there any drafts from other employees of AWB?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   That are not in this compilation?

        38       A.   No.  No.

        39

        40       Q.   I had covered the 2 January meeting with you, which is

        41       referred to at paragraph 51.  By "meeting", I mean

        42       teleconference including Professor Sandman.  I see that

        43       there was a meeting on 10 January, which did not include

        44       Professor Sandman; it included yourself, Mr Lindberg,

        45       Mr Zwier, Mr Fuller, Mr Cooper, Ms Thompson and Mr Judd.

        46       Were there other meetings, teleconferences, with

        47       Professor Sandman?
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         1       A.   There was one of 13 January.

         2

         3       Q.   That was the last one, was it not?

         4       A.   Yes.

         5

         6       Q.   What was the purpose of that meeting?

         7       A.   That was a meeting that we had scheduled when we

         8       scheduled the original set of meetings.  I think the

         9       purpose would have been the same as the other meetings in

        10       terms of the original purpose, catching up with his views

        11       and his theory.  As it turns out, the drafts and the

        12       drafting had progressed quite a deal beyond where

        13       Professor Sandman had actually last seen a draft, so there

        14       wasn't really anything to discuss at that meeting.

        15

        16       Q.   Well, is that right:  Professor Sandman had given you

        17       comments on version 9 by email dated the day before,

        18       12 January.  So he had still been in the loop, as it were,

        19       and was still writing comments on drafts of the contrition

        20       statement up to the day before this meeting?

        21       A.   That was on version 9.

        22

        23       Q.   Yes.

        24       A.   I believe in the period before the 13th,

        25       Andrew Lindberg had developed or gone through a number

        26       of new versions, so he had actually produced - and they are

        27       in here --

        28

        29       Q.   Am I right in this summary, that Professor Sandman had

        30       provided his response to the Hargreaves draft?

        31       A.   Version 9.

        32

        33       Q.   And that --

        34       A.   No, he had provided some response to version 9.

        35

        36       Q.   No, before that.  He had provided the response to the

        37       Hargreaves draft?

        38       A.   Yes.

        39

        40       Q.   And then the next material from him in relation to a

        41       response to a draft was that received on 12 January to

        42       version 9?

        43       A.   Yes, but what I'm saying is there were - by that

        44       stage, version 9 was out of date and there had been a

        45       number of other versions created by Andrew Lindberg that

        46       had gone beyond version 9, so Sandman's comments on 9 had

        47       virtually lost their freshness, their relevance, because
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         1       there had been a number of other versions created that he

         2       hadn't seen.

         3

         4       Q.   So what was discussed on 13 January?

         5       A.   Not a lot, really.  It was really a closing meeting

         6       that was - I think I say in here, it was I think fairly

         7       flat in that things had gone - the versions had gone beyond

         8       Professor Sandman's comments and we were really just

         9       thanking him for his contribution.

        10

        11       Q.   May I ask you in that regard to look at page 394 of

        12       your annexures, which is WST.0042.0420.  This is your email

        13       to Professor Sandman, which is dated and timed at

        14       11 January 2006 at 8.13am, in which you say:

        15

        16            Peter.

        17            This is the latest version of Andrew's

        18            statement.

        19            As you can imagine this is proving a very

        20            difficult task for Andrew to get to a

        21            position he is totally comfortable with.

        22            I feel it's like a pendulum that is

        23            swinging between your views and the more

        24            legalistic, totally fact based views, hence

        25            the different emphasis in each version.

        26            This latest version is Andrew's cut as a

        27            result of a long session we had yesterday

        28            that included our lawyers, our Aust Govt

        29            relations adviser and our Chairman.

        30            For your information, our Chairman was

        31            rather shocked at the previous version (the

        32            last one you saw) and felt Andrew would be

        33            putting himself too far at risk.

        34            Hope that helps with the atmospherics.

        35

        36       Now, which is the previous version, the last one that

        37       Professor Sandman had seen, which had so shocked your

        38       chairman?

        39       A.   I think that was --

        40

        41       Q.   Was it the Hargreaves version?

        42       A.   No, it was what is referred to as version 3, at 320.

        43

        44       Q.   Can you identify it by reference to the annexures?

        45       A.   320 - page 320, sorry.

        46

        47       Q.   This is a version which includes Professor Sandman's
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         1       comments.

         2       A.   Yes, but the comments were not relating to the

         3       Hargreaves version.  It was another version.

         4

         5       Q.   Is it the version at 315?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   So just to be clear, and so that we will be able to

         9       follow this later in the transcript, when you wrote to

        10       Dr Sandman on 11 January, saying "For your information, our

        11       Chairman was rather shocked at the previous version (the

        12       last one you saw", you were referring to the document which

        13       commences at page 315 of your annexures --

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       Q.   -- which is WST.0042.0341, and it runs through to

        17       0343.  The next document after that was that document

        18       including comments from Professor Sandman, which we see at

        19       page 320.

        20       A.   Yes.

        21

        22       Q.   Which is WST.0042.0346 through to 0350.  What was it

        23       that the chairman - and this would be Mr Stewart by now,

        24       would it not --

        25       A.   Yes.

        26

        27       Q.   -- had said that had led you to write that he was

        28       rather shocked at that previous version, 315?

        29       A.   I can't remember exactly what he said, or in fact any

        30       section he was referring to.  I was really just trying to

        31       give Professor Sandman some sense of why he kept getting

        32       versions that sort of weren't continuous in any way, that

        33       we kept getting different versions with different

        34       perspectives on them, so I was trying to explain to him

        35       that, and I was basically, I think, expressing presumably

        36       my feeling from that meeting that the chairman had thought

        37       this was - this version that he had seen - very apologetic,

        38       when he hadn't been exposed to any of the Sandman

        39       philosophy.

        40

        41       Q.   Any particular aspect?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   You say:

        45

        46            Andrew would be putting himself too far at

        47            risk.
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         1

         2       What did the chairman say about that?

         3       A.   Well, again, I don't recall - I don't actually recall

         4       him saying those words.  I believe it's my interpretation

         5       of the flavour of the conversation or the meeting, and that

         6       because it was so - that it was apologetic and it was -

         7       then that might be seen as too apologetic for the facts.

         8

         9       Q.   What you have written is that Andrew would be putting

        10       himself too far at risk, nothing about AWB being put too

        11       far at risk?

        12       A.   Well, given that this was called Andrew Lindberg's

        13       statement.

        14

        15       Q.   Well, did the chairman draw a distinction between AWB

        16       and Mr Lindberg?

        17       A.   I don't believe so.

        18

        19       Q.   Should we take what you have written literally, that

        20       it was Mr Lindberg putting himself too far at risk?

        21       A.   Well, I think only because Andrew Lindberg's name was

        22       on it.

        23

        24       Q.   You say in this email that you felt like it was a

        25       "pendulum swinging between Professor Sandman's views and

        26       the more legalistic totally fact based views."  You put the

        27       draft of Mr Lindberg in that category, do you, "legalistic

        28       totally fact based"?

        29

        30       MR ALLEN:   Mr Commissioner, can I point out that the draft

        31       in question is a draft of Mr Hargreaves, not of

        32       Mr Lindberg.  The draft in question, version 3, to which

        33       the witness has been taken, as I understand the evidence,

        34       is a draft of Mr Hargreaves.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.

        37

        38       MR ALLEN:   It has his name on it.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   Q.   I am merely putting it back to you in the

        41       terms in which you have written it in your email?

        42       A.   Well, that it has his name on it.

        43

        44       Q.   What you say is:

        45

        46            As you can imagine, this is proving a very

        47            difficult task for Andrew to get to a
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         1            position he is totally comfortable with.

         2

         3       I took that to mean that Andrew, being Andrew Lindberg, was

         4       approving of these drafts one after the other before they

         5       left AWB and went off to Professor Sandman; am I wrong

         6       about that?

         7       A.   Not all of them Andrew wouldn't have seen and

         8       approved, and it wasn't really, at that stage, an approval

         9       process anyway; it was a fairly free-flowing distribution

        10       of information.  This one, as we say, was I think

        11       Hargreaves with Andrew's name on it, but he wasn't

        12       necessarily approving every draft before it went out.

        13

        14       Q.   Well, did he see this draft before it went to

        15       Professor Sandman - that's the draft at 315?

        16       A.   I don't know that he necessarily saw that one, but

        17       I think he would have seen one - maybe the previous one

        18       that was similar.

        19

        20       Q.   309?

        21       A.   I don't know for sure whether he saw that draft, but,

        22       as I say, I think there was one before that that was

        23       similar that he would have seen, and he possibly would have

        24       seen this one.

        25

        26       Q.   Would have seen which one?

        27       A.   This Hargreaves one.

        28

        29       Q.   What page?

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   315.

        32

        33       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Is that right, 315?

        34       A.   Oh, yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Did Mr Stewart endorse the draft that was sent on

        37       10 January, which is at version 9, 8.15pm on 10 January, at

        38       page 384 of your annexures?

        39       A.   No.  I don't - I don't think he would have seen that

        40       one.

        41

        42       Q.   Well, what you say in your email to Professor Sandman

        43       on 11 January is:

        44

        45            This is the latest version of Andrew's

        46            statement.

        47
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         1       Were you there referring to the document we see at

         2       page 384?

         3       A.   Yes, version 9.  But then I'm saying that the chairman

         4       had only seen the previous version, which is the one we

         5       were looking at before.

         6

         7       Q.   Actually you don't say he has only seen the previous

         8       version?

         9       A.   Oh.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   You say:

        12

        13            This latest version --

        14

        15       which I take to be 384 --

        16

        17            is Andrew's cut as a result of a long

        18            session he had yesterday that included our

        19            lawyers, our Aust Govt relations adviser

        20            and our Chairman.

        21

        22       The way I read that is that you are sending 384 to

        23       Mr Sandman, and it is the iteration, perhaps after a number

        24       of iterations, after the chairman had been shocked by

        25       looking at the document at 315; is that correct?

        26       A.   Yes.  The chairman had seen the version which was the

        27       previous version at 315.

        28

        29       Q.   There had been a lot of discussion?

        30       A.   There had been a lot of discussion and a lot of

        31       iterations.

        32

        33       Q.   And that produced 384?

        34       A.   384.

        35

        36       Q.   Right?

        37       A.   And that's the one that was circulated to Sandman.

        38

        39       Q.   The question you were asked was:  Did the chairman

        40       approve of 384?

        41       A.   No - well, I don't think the chairman saw 384.

        42

        43       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Isn't 384 the result of the long session

        44       that you had had --

        45       A.   Sorry, sorry.

        46

        47       Q.   -- on 10 January?
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         1       A.   No, I was getting confused with the versions.  Yes.

         2       So 384 would have been the --

         3

         4       Q.   It was the document produced as a result of the long

         5       session that was had on 10 January?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   Which session had included input from your lawyers,

         9       government relations adviser and the chairman?

        10       A.   Yes.  Yes.  Okay.  Yes, sorry.

        11

        12       Q.   I just want you to be comfortable and --

        13       A.   I am getting confused on the versions, but, yes.

        14

        15       Q.   And so that is read as meaning that the document

        16       at 384 is the version that came out of the long session and

        17       that had been approved by the chairman?

        18       A.   I don't necessarily believe the chairman - there was

        19       presumably the discussion and then there was a version

        20       created.  I don't know that the chairman would have

        21       actually seen that version before it was sent out.

        22

        23       Q.   That would be contrary to the inference that one draws

        24       from the way in which you have written this email.

        25       A.   Yes, I'm just saying I can't be sure that he - we may

        26       well have had the session, this version created after that

        27       session, and then circulated, but not necessarily - I can't

        28       say necessarily it would have gone to the chairman for

        29       approval.

        30

        31       Q.   But it would have accurately reflected the results of

        32       the session, would it not?

        33       A.   Presumably, yes.

        34

        35       Q.   And that's what your email says?

        36       A.   Yes.

        37

        38       Q.   It says it is as a result of the session?

        39       A.   Yes.  But I'm just saying I can't be sure that the

        40       chairman would have seen that version.

        41

        42       Q.   If we look at 384, we see some editing which is

        43       captured in the right-hand margin.  Who was the author of

        44       the edits?  This is at WST.0042.0410.

        45       A.   I'm not positive, but I believe that would have -

        46       I don't know whether it was potentially Andrew or even

        47       Peter Hargreaves.  I don't know.
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         1

         2       Q.   But it reflected the product of the long session on

         3       10 January?

         4       A.   Yes, in terms of having had the discussion, but

         5       I don't know that - I can't say that every word in here or

         6       every edit actually came out of that discussion.

         7

         8       Q.   Well, did anybody have the job of checking the draft

         9       that came out of that discussion to ensure that it

        10       reflected --

        11       A.   No, not to --

        12

        13       Q.   -- and was a true product of the discussion?

        14       A.   No, again, not to - there wasn't a specific allocation

        15       of the task.  It would have been a discussion, and then

        16       either Andrew or maybe Peter Hargreaves went away and

        17       developed another draft.

        18

        19       Q.   And then that was sent to Mr Sandman, or Professor

        20       Sandman?

        21       A.   Yes.

        22

        23       Q.   So when he received it, it was current - the last

        24       version, version 9, of 10 January, was sent to him at a

        25       time that that version was still current?

        26       A.   Yes.  Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Under cover of your email at page 394?

        29       A.   Yes.  Yes.  It was current.  I think the point I was

        30       making before is it wasn't current when we had the

        31       13th January hook-up.

        32

        33       Q.   You then received from Professor Sandman his comments

        34       on version 9?

        35       A.   Yes.

        36

        37       Q.   When did you receive that?

        38       A.   That looks at though it is at 3.30 on the 12th.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Page 398.

        41

        42       Q.   And you were due to speak to Professor Sandman the

        43       next day - the 13th?

        44       A.   Yes.

        45

        46       Q.   Well, wasn't his version - that is, version 9 plus his

        47       comments - still current when you were due to speak to him
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         1       on the 13th?

         2       A.   No, because there had been --

         3

         4       Q.   Well, where are the intervening versions?

         5       A.   There had been --

         6

         7       MR ABBOTT:   Commissioner, I can assist in this regard.

         8       Originally they were included in the statement, but they

         9       have been taken out because I understand legal professional

        10       privilege is claimed.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   They are the subject of the proceedings in the

        13       Federal Court. .

        14

        15       THE COMMISSIONER:   Can you give me the numbers of the

        16       documents, please?

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   I am sorry, Commissioner, that's not a matter

        19       of which I'm aware.

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   I don't have the particulars at my fingertips.

        22       Perhaps we can sort this out.  We can certainly, I think,

        23       provide the Commission with the information concerning what

        24       my friend says is missing.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is there a claim for legal professional

        27       privilege, or is there not, in respect of these intervening

        28       iterations?

        29

        30       MR JUDD:   There are some iterations which are presently

        31       the subject of claims --

        32

        33       THE COMMISSIONER:   After 12 January and before the 13th?

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   I can't be confident of that.  They are only

        36       documents emanating from external lawyers.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, no, we're talking about iterations.

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   Yes.  Only documents emanating from external

        41       lawyers will be the subject of any claim.

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   So do I understand that to mean that

        44       there was an iteration after that of the 12th which came

        45       from external lawyers?

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   There may be.  That's what I need to check,
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         1       Commissioner, to make sure that I've got the facts right.

         2       But there are iterations, as I understand, within the

         3       documents before the Federal Court.  I want the opportunity

         4       simply to identify what they are to see if they marry up

         5       with what Mr Abbott says was for some reason taken out.

         6

         7       MR AGIUS:   Could I draw attention in the list that was

         8       provided to us, which is said to be accurate as at

         9       15 August and which I tendered this morning, to documents

        10       1299, 1300, 1301, 1302 and 1304 - they all pre-date

        11       10 January.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   I think that before I clarify this, I will need

        14       to get some additional instructions.  That's not going to

        15       take very long.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you wish me to adjourn for a short

        18       while?

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   Well, we could adjourn for a short time or we

        21       could deal with it first thing in the morning.

        22

        23       THE COMMISSIONER:   I would like to try and finish this

        24       witness this afternoon.

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   Yes, I understand.  Five or ten minutes may

        27       assist now.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Very well.  I will take a brief

        30       adjournment.

        31

        32       SHORT ADJOURNMENT

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, forget what I said a moment ago.

        35       I will start again in relation to these documents.

        36

        37            What is before the Federal Court are some iterations

        38       of what are called the contrition or the Sandman documents

        39       that emanated from external lawyers, the ones that are

        40       listed in the list --

        41

        42       THE COMMISSIONER:   From 1292 to 1304?

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   Yes.   They became part of the process around

        45       the time that the Commission called for the related

        46       documents following the ruling on exhibit 665, so that we

        47       produced to the Commission the folder of related material
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         1       and some became the subject of privilege claims and they

         2       are before the court.

         3

         4       THE COMMISSIONER:   You have produced two sets of

         5       documents, one on 26 May, which is a large bundle, and some

         6       I think last week.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   Yes.

         9

        10       THE COMMISSIONER:   Or this week, I'm not sure which.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   Yes, recently.  Now, the documents that my

        13       friend spoke of are ones which came to light as a

        14       consequence of the notice served on AWB in respect of

        15       Ms Gillingham's emails.  The documents are not Sandman

        16       documents that relate to or, as I am instructed, have

        17       anything to do with Sandman, but were a draft of the

        18       statement or supplementary statement of Mr Lindberg, which

        19       was prepared, as we are instructed, for the purpose of

        20       placing before legal advisers.  This was after 10 January

        21       and before it was produced here.

        22

        23            That material has not been produced to the Commission,

        24       and I am instructed we asked that it be removed from the

        25       material that accompanied Ms Gillingham's statement.  There

        26       is a continuing review of the balance of Ms Gillingham's

        27       material under way.  When that is complete, we will

        28       identify such documents as may be the subject of a claim

        29       for legal professional privilege.

        30

        31            There is also the issue, Commissioner, concerning the

        32       scope of the notice extending to material which is brought

        33       into existence for the purpose of preparing for this

        34       inquiry.  Now, this was a matter that we raised with the

        35       Commission in correspondence the other day.  There are two

        36       elements to this.  We have taken the view that these

        37       notices, such as 48A - 48A in particular is the one we are

        38       concerned with - are not intended to extend in its scope to

        39       capture material, whether it be privileged or otherwise,

        40       which was brought into existence for the purpose of

        41       preparing for this investigation, as distinct from some

        42       other purpose.

        43

        44       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why have you taken that view?  The

        45       terms of reference include responses to inquiries,

        46       including this one.

        47
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         1       MR JUDD:   That comes as a surprise, to include this

         2       inquiry within the terms of reference - that is, the terms

         3       of reference authorise an inquiry into this inquiry.

         4

         5       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, authorise and get a response to

         6       this inquiry, not an inquiry into this inquiry.

         7

         8       MR JUDD:   An inquiry into the response to this inquiry.

         9       The terms of reference certainly extend to Project Rose and

        10       the response to Volcker.

        11

        12            In our submission, if the terms of reference were

        13       intended to extend and thus a notice issued to capture

        14       material that was brought into existence for the purpose of

        15       preparing for this inquiry, it would send a chill through

        16       any corporation or witness who was called to appear before

        17       this inquiry in preparing for it.

        18

        19            We say that on a proper interpretation of notices,

        20       there was an implied limitation.  We say that there is a

        21       question of relevance, and we say that the terms of

        22       reference could not be properly interpreted as extending to

        23       that material.

        24

        25            That is why it was raised directly in correspondence

        26       with the Commission.  There is a separate issue in relation

        27       to earlier notices, and I was intending to raise that at

        28       the end of Ms Gillingham's evidence, to clarify a matter

        29       that my friend put to her in a question.  You,

        30       Commissioner, will understand immediately the issue when

        31       I mention it.

        32

        33            Mr Agius put to Ms Gillingham in connection with some

        34       notes of a meeting that, of course, there had been an

        35       obligation to produce those to the inquiry.  Now, as it

        36       happens, we have put in train an inquiry of our own to see

        37       if any such notes exist.  Of course, whether or not they

        38       existed in relation to 48A has already been the subject of

        39       investigation.

        40

        41            We have taken the view - and there should be no

        42       misunderstanding about this, so that if the matter needs to

        43       be clarified it can be - that with the general notice that

        44       was issued back in December of 2005, first of all, the same

        45       principle that I have enunciated applies; that is, it was

        46       not intended to apply to material brought into existence

        47       for the preparation of the case for AWB or the
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         1       representation of AWB here, but, more particularly, and

         2       perhaps completely overlapping, it was not intended to

         3       capture material which was brought into existence after

         4       that notice was issued.  It can only relate to material

         5       which was in existence at that time.  In other words, it

         6       has no forward work to do.

         7

         8            It is important that the Commission understands that

         9       that's the approach that has been taken.  Now, the fact is

        10       that a good deal of material has been produced.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   If that's right, none of this material

        13       which we have dealt with all day today would be subject of

        14       a notice.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   I was about to say, Commissioner, that a good

        17       deal of material has been produced because the Commission

        18       has expressly requested it - for example, the Sandman

        19       documents.  A request was made for those documents and they

        20       were provided, and that's the material that is being dealt

        21       with now.  But I wanted there to be no misunderstanding so

        22       it couldn't later be said that the Commission was

        23       proceeding on one assumption and we were proceeding on

        24       another.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   So your position is that if the

        27       Commission issues a notice which directly identifies

        28       material which was brought into existence for the purpose

        29       of this Commission, it will be produced, but if that

        30       material is otherwise caught by an earlier notice, it will

        31       not be produced because of the view you take that such an

        32       earlier notice can have no forward operation?  Is that

        33       right?

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   No, that's not right.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   Then what is your position?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   The material relating to exhibit 665 was

        40       produced because it was requested.  There was no notice.

        41       The question of whether a notice is good for material that

        42       goes to the preparation for the inquiry is a matter that we

        43       contend is not open to the Commission:  in other words, the

        44       terms of reference do not extend to authorise the

        45       Commission to require production of material which is

        46       prepared as part of the response by AWB to this inquiry.

        47       So that notices are to be read as if there is such an
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         1       implied limitation.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, then, why was all this stuff

         4       produced?

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   Because the Commission asked for it and we

         7       provided it to the Commission.  There was no notice for it.

         8

         9            The Commission will also recall that documents had

        10       been provided in error originally, a claim for privilege

        11       made and a ruling made by you, sir, and then another by the

        12       Federal Court in relation to it --

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's in relation to 665.

        15

        16       MR JUDD:   -- and a pragmatic view was taken in relation to

        17       that material but no privileged material was handed over.

        18       It was done in an effort to assist that element of the

        19       Commission's inquiry.  But we do not take the view that the

        20       notices extend wholesale to the kind of material I have

        21       described earlier that was removed from the production made

        22       of Ms Gillingham's material.  Otherwise, we would have a

        23       situation where drafts of any statements prepared for

        24       witnesses were being produced to the inquiry; the inquiry

        25       would be calling for and investigating the communications

        26       of counsel, solicitors, preparation of material internally

        27       to respond to this inquiry, and, in our submission, that

        28       would not be intended and is not intended by the terms of

        29       reference.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   Well, all this is very interesting, but

        32       we are addressing what I understood this witness to say

        33       were further iterations produced after 12 January and

        34       before 13 January.

        35

        36       MR JUDD:   Different documents.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   Do you say there are none?

        39

        40       MR JUDD:   The documents that have been not produced are

        41       drafts of Mr Lindberg's statement --

        42

        43       THE COMMISSIONER:   Exhibit 19?

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   Exhibit 19.  Not iterations of the Sandman

        46       material which went in a different direction.  And there is

        47       a clear distinction to be drawn between the two pathways.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   I have to say, having read all this

         3       material and exhibit 19, one would seem to me to be the

         4       product of the other, but you are telling me that's not so?

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   That's not so.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   That there are two streams:  there

         9       is one stream which is the preparation of drafts of

        10       exhibit 19, and another stream which is iterations of this

        11       statement of apology - statement of contrition.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   It is not to say that there is no connection,

        14       one stops and the other starts, but the latter starts as a

        15       process to prepare his statement which was tendered in

        16       evidence here, and the documents that have been removed

        17       were not ones that were prepared in the context of any

        18       communication with Mr Sandman, but only communication with

        19       lawyers.  It places them in a very different category.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   Commencing from what date?

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   10 January.

        24

        25       MR AGIUS:   Are they the subject of claims for legal

        26       professional privilege in the Federal Court?

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   The answer to my friend's question is that they

        29       are not, and that is because they didn't arise as documents

        30       to be produced until the notice to AWB, 48A.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   And now they are not produced?

        33

        34       MR JUDD:   And now they are not produced.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   In answer to that?

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   In answer to that.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   Because that notice does not require

        41       you to produce a document in respect of which you claim

        42       legal professional privilege?  That's the first reason.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   The second reason is because you say

        47       the notice cannot be sufficiently wide to encompass them?
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   Correct.  Those are the two bases upon which

         3       those versions - I think there are two or three - of what

         4       later became the exhibit 19 have not been produced.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   But all iterations of the Sandman

         7       documents have been?

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   But for the ones that are listed in the list

        10       that --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   But for these 1299 to 1304?

        13

        14       MR JUDD:   Correct.

        15

        16       THE COMMISSIONER:   I understand the position.  Mr Agius?

        17

        18       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if I could ask my friend Mr Abbott

        19       through you, Commissioner, whether or not when he rose in

        20       order to assist the inquiry what he was going to say is in

        21       substance what we've been told by Mr Judd or whether

        22       Mr Abbott has in mind another group of documents which

        23       Mr Judd has not addressed?

        24

        25       MR ABBOTT:   No, I had in mind the same documents.

        26       Obviously, as part of the process Ms Gillingham's statement

        27       and annexures were submitted to AWB and that's the result

        28       of the process.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   And you agree with Mr Judd that they

        31       are not iterations of the statement of contrition, but are

        32       drafts of statements for exhibit 19?

        33

        34       MR ABBOTT:   I don't agree.  They are not our documents.

        35       It is not part of Ms Gillingham's role to agree or disagree

        36       with such documents.  A claim has been made.  We are

        37       obliged to respect that claim.  What I think about them is

        38       irrelevant in that sense.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not sure that's right.  If you were

        41       of the view that they were truly iterations, it would be

        42       your obligation to include them in a statement, as you did?

        43

        44       MR ABBOTT:   Which we did.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which you did.

        47
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         1       MR ABBOTT:   And now a claim for privilege is made and that

         2       needs to be determined, and if the claim for privilege is

         3       determined adversely, they will go back in her statement.

         4       The privilege is not for us to take.

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   But the claim for privilege cannot be

         7       determined, because it hasn't been claimed in the current

         8       Federal Court proceedings.

         9

        10       MR ABBOTT:   I understand that.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   I am injuncted from issuing a notice to

        13       obtain any documents in respect of which AWB claims legal

        14       professional privilege, at least until the end of the

        15       current Federal Court proceedings, and that will, subject

        16       to the question of the construction of the width of the

        17       notices, involve either Mr Judd commencing further Federal

        18       Court proceedings or, alternatively, waiting until the

        19       present one is concluded and the powers exercised under the

        20       amending Act being exercised.

        21

        22       MR ABBOTT:   Commissioner, may I say that there are two

        23       bases on which my learned friend put his claim.  The first

        24       is that the notice, on a proper construction, excluded

        25       these documents and therefore they should not be produced

        26       pursuant to the notice.  Secondly, if the notice did result

        27       in them being produced, there was, nonetheless, a claim for

        28       legal professional privilege.  The fact of the matter is

        29       that we have no part to play in an adjudication on the

        30       notice, nor is it for us to make any determination,

        31       provision or otherwise as to whether the claim for legal

        32       professional privilege is properly made or not.  It is not

        33       our privilege to claim.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, all I was doing was asking you, as

        36       senior counsel, whether you agreed that they were not

        37       iterations of the statement of contrition, but were in a

        38       different category, as Mr Judd described.

        39

        40       MR ABBOTT:   Commissioner, it is not a matter to which I

        41       have turned my mind, in the sense of coming to any

        42       concluded opinion.  I haven't done so and it would be,

        43       I think, improper of me to do so.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   I shouldn't ask you to do so,

        46       I suppose.

        47
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         1       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, Mr Agius?

         2

         3       MR AGIUS:   The only additional matter is the evidence that

         4       we have from this witness which is on her oath to the

         5       effect that exhibit 19 is the end product of the contrition

         6       statement process.  That's the evidence before this inquiry

         7       and there is no evidence to the contrary.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   How are we going to resolve this,

        10       Mr Judd?  Do we have to take some evidence from someone

        11       from your camp?  I mean, what Mr Agius says is right.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   I suppose it depends on what this witness knows

        14       and really it depends again on what course we take in

        15       respect of it.  It may be that --

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   What do I do when I have a statement

        18       from senior counsel to one effect, and sworn evidence of a

        19       witness to the other?

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   But to what effect, if I may ask, Commissioner?

        22       The sworn evidence --

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   The effect is this, as I understand

        25       it - and tell me if I am wrong:  this witness has said that

        26       there are further iterations of the statement of

        27       contrition; you have said that there are not.

        28

        29       MR JUDD:   But, in a sense, if the Commission were to

        30       accept that they are, so what?  Let's assume that they were

        31       further iterations that then became documents that were

        32       prepared to place before lawyers.  It wouldn't matter a

        33       whit, in our submission, to the claim that's made.  So the

        34       evidence goes nowhere.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm not sure.

        37

        38       MR JUDD:   If that be the position.

        39

        40       THE COMMISSIONER:   It was not to be placed before lawyers,

        41       but placed before Mr Sandman.  The documents we're talking

        42       about are between 12 and 13 January.

        43

        44       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        45

        46       THE COMMISSIONER:   They were not produced for lawyers, on

        47       the evidence of this witness, they were produced to go to
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         1       Mr Sandman.

         2

         3       MR JUDD:   No, this witness has not given such evidence.

         4       The only link that this witness has made is to say, as

         5       I recall, that the exhibit 19 was the end product, not that

         6       they went to Mr Sandman.

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   You can correct me if I am wrong.

         9       Mr Agius put to this witness that the current document,

        10       when the meeting was to be held, the teleconference

        11       meeting, on the 13th, was a particular document.  She said,

        12       "No, there were subsequent iterations".  My understanding

        13       of her evidence was that those subsequent iterations were

        14       the ones to go to Mr Sandman because the previous one was

        15       not current.

        16

        17       THE WITNESS:   No.  Excuse me, can I --

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   We will ask the witness.

        20

        21       Q.   Is that right or wrong?

        22       A.   No, the version 9 that went to Mr Sandman, what

        23       I said, or I at least meant to say, was that there had been

        24       other versions prior to --

        25

        26       Q.   Yes, you said that.

        27       A.   -- versions beyond version 9 that had been developed

        28       prior to the Sandman meeting, and hadn't been sent to

        29       Sandman, and there wasn't any intention, as I understand

        30       it, to send it to him - to send those versions.  So there

        31       had been the process that got to version 9 that went to

        32       Sandman, but back here on the 10th or 11th, some date prior

        33       to that, there had been further versions developed, but my

        34       understanding was that they weren't going to Sandman.

        35       This 9 was the last one that went to Sandman and hence

        36       there was no further need to have any discussion at the

        37       meeting of the 13th.

        38

        39       Q.   So there were no documents forwarded to Mr Sandman or

        40       intended to be forwarded to Mr Sandman before the supposed

        41       suggested meeting, telephonically, on the 13th --

        42       A.   Beyond version 9.

        43

        44       Q.   Beyond version 9; is that right?

        45       A.   That's right.

        46

        47       MR AGIUS:   Q.   That would mean, then, that for the
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         1       teleconference with Mr Sandman on the 13th, the document

         2       that you had and that he had - he in the United States and

         3       you in Australia - was his copy of version 9 which

         4       contained his comments and suggested amendments?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   You say that there were then in existence other

         8       iterations of that contrition document which AWB had but

         9       which Professor Sandman did not have?

        10       A.   That's right.

        11

        12       Q.   Those iterations had been prepared by whom?

        13       A.   Andrew Lindberg, I believe.

        14

        15       Q.   And you saw them?

        16       A.   I - in preparing for this, I saw them, but I hadn't

        17       seen it - seen them before this - preparing for this.

        18

        19       Q.   But you have seen the documents - they exist?

        20       A.   I have - yes.  As of today I have seen them.

        21

        22       Q.   And it is your evidence that they were prepared by

        23       Andrew Lindberg?

        24       A.   Yes.

        25

        26       Q.   As a development of the contrition document?

        27       A.   Well, I'm not sure, because I wasn't part of him

        28       developing those documents.  I know there was another

        29       process that resulted in some documents that I've seen in

        30       preparation for this hearing, that were developed by Andrew

        31       and I'm not sure who else - possibly lawyers.

        32

        33       Q.   Let's not go to the area where you are not too sure.

        34       Let's go into the area of your evidence about what you

        35       know.  You say that there were other iterations of the

        36       document prepared by Mr Lindberg?

        37       A.   Yes.

        38

        39       MR ABBOTT:   She said she believes that there were.

        40

        41       THE WITNESS:   I believe they were prepared by Mr Lindberg,

        42       but I wasn't part of the process, so I don't know exactly

        43       whether it was Mr Lindberg or lawyers or - but --

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Do you understand that a claim for

        46       privilege has been made over those documents?

        47       A.   Well, those documents that - I think they fall into
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         1       the category of either a claim for privilege or part of

         2       his - as Mr Judd described.

         3

         4       Q.   You've got the documents, I take it - your lawyers

         5       have a set of those documents?

         6       A.   Yes.

         7

         8       Q.   They reside at the moment in your lawyer's briefcase?

         9       A.   I'm not sure about that.

        10

        11       Q.   Well, have you been told that there is a claim for

        12       privilege in relation to those documents by AWB?

        13

        14       MR ABBOTT:   I can answer that, yes, she has been, through

        15       her lawyers.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   I am just wanting to be sure that we're all

        18       talking about the same set of documents regardless of how

        19       various people describe them.

        20

        21            It seems, Mr Commissioner, at least on the basis of

        22       what has been said by Mr Judd, that those documents are not

        23       going to be voluntarily produced to the inquiry, and the

        24       Commission will need to consider its position in relation

        25       to the issue of notices under the amended legislation after

        26       the injunction is dissolved or it dissolves itself because

        27       of the delivery of final judgment in that matter.  What is

        28       of interest is that there is no final relief claimed in the

        29       Federal Court which continues to support the existence of

        30       that injunction.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't think we should get involved in

        33       what is and isn't within the purview of the proceedings in

        34       the Federal Court.  I am conducting a Commission.  The

        35       Federal Court is conducting its litigation brought by AWB,

        36       and that will in due course be resolved.  The product of

        37       that litigation will come back here and the Commission will

        38       then consider it in the course of debate.

        39

        40       MR AGIUS:   That, rather more eloquently, in my submission,

        41       was the point I was trying to make.  There is nothing more

        42       we can do about that until we have judgment from the

        43       Federal Court, and I only say that as an observation of the

        44       current situation.

        45

        46       Q.   There are one or two other matters that I want to take

        47       up with you, Ms Gillingham.  I will take them as far as I
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         1       can today, and we may need to have you back on the later

         2       occasion once we have what further production there is to

         3       be from AWB.  In your statement, at paragraph 30, you refer

         4       to confidential exhibit 79, a copy of which in its entirety

         5       you have annexed to your statement commencing at page 97.

         6       It is WST.0042.0123.  I won't ask for it to be brought

         7       up, because it is a confidential exhibit.  It is entitled

         8       "Jordan Iranian trip report, C Whitwell, N

         9       Edmonds-Wilson, May 2003", and it records in part the

        10       following, and this portion that I'm about to read is not

        11       subject of a non-publication order; it is the one portion

        12       of the document which can be published.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Which page is it on?

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   It is page 100 of the exhibit, of the

        17       annexures.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes, I have that.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.  It is the last two paragraphs.

        22       Importantly, the matter of 2.5 million Euro inland

        23       transport paid for a particular vessel was brought up by

        24       both Othman and the Chairman.  And here there is a report

        25       being made of conversations between AWB personnel in Jordan

        26       with Othman al-Absi and the chairman of Alia:

        27

        28            Both Othman and the Chairman said the

        29            matter had previously been tabled between

        30            Alia and Mr Yousif.  Alia said that as soon

        31            as someone with authority to sign the

        32            appropriate documentation from the Iraqi

        33            side, the money would be returned to Alia

        34            and then to the company in question.

        35

        36       This affected about 10 companies other than AWB:

        37

        38            Alia had the appropriate documentation

        39            showing the money had been remitted, so we

        40            will now have to wait until the hierarchy

        41            in Iraq is up and running to chase.  The

        42            Chairman had much faith and trust that the

        43            dollars owing would be returned in due

        44            course and said he would do everything

        45            possible to access the funds from the

        46            frozen account ASAP.  Alia had recently

        47            sent a letter to Iraq, around 20/03, re
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         1            funds that had been paid but services not

         2            provided and therefore needed to be

         3            returned.

         4

         5       Those two passages make this clear, Ms Gillingham, that an

         6       amount of 2.5 million Euros had been paid on account of

         7       inland transport by AWB, the money had been paid to Alia,

         8       and Alia had passed it to the IGB.  The Pearl of Fujairah,

         9       as we know it, had not been able to berth and discharge,

        10       and AWB was interested in the return of that money and Alia

        11       was going to make arrangements with the IGB to have that

        12       money returned.

        13

        14            In short, it makes plain that money paid on account of

        15       inland transport was being paid through Alia but to the

        16       Iraqis.

        17

        18            This was in a report that was provided for consumption

        19       by executives at AWB in May of 2003, shortly after the

        20       cessation of hostilities.  A great deal of the report

        21       speaks of what is to happen in the future with Iraqi trade

        22       and what is the situation, as Messrs Whitwell and Nigel

        23       Edmonds-Wilson found it when they went to Jordan and Iran,

        24       prior to May of 2003.  Did you read that material that

        25       I read to you?

        26       A.   I don't - I definitely don't recall reading it.  It

        27       wouldn't have been a report that I would have spent a lot

        28       of time over, if I did read it, but I've got no

        29       recollection of reading it.

        30

        31       Q.   Exhibit 48 before this inquiry indicates that that

        32       document was forwarded to the ELG.  Were you conscious of

        33       the fact, in May of 2003, that money being paid on account

        34       of inland transport by AWB was going to the Iraqis?

        35       A.   No.

        36

        37       Q.   And that in order to recoup money that was paid in

        38       relation to vessels that had been caught up in the

        39       hostilities, what was required was a release by the IGB of

        40       that money?

        41       A.   No.

        42

        43       Q.   Would you agree that you would have been aware of that

        44       if you had read this report?

        45       A.   If I'd read it in minute detail and understood the

        46       context, but again, it wasn't an area that I was very

        47       familiar with; it wasn't an area that I had any
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         1       responsibility for and I had many other things that I was

         2       dealing with.

         3

         4       Q.   You have provided another statement to the inquiry

         5       detailing your duties concerning arranging for the

         6       production of material in response to notices.

         7       A.   The affidavit?

         8

         9       Q.   We have it as exhibit 806.  It is in the form of an

        10       affidavit.

        11

        12       MR ABBOTT:   Page 70?

        13

        14       MR AGIUS:   Q.   It is not the affidavit to the Federal

        15       Court; it is your earlier statement to this inquiry, which

        16       has been separately tendered in your absence, and we have

        17       it as exhibit 806.  We can bring it up as WST.0030.0002_R.

        18       When you set about the task of coordinating the response to

        19       the notices, did you have access to other bodies of

        20       material that had been gathered together for AWB or by AWB

        21       employees?

        22       A.   Gathered together for?

        23

        24       Q.   As part of any internal review or inquiry that was

        25       conducted within AWB?

        26       A.   We had the documents that were provided to the Volcker

        27       Inquiry, the 79 binders.  I believe there had been other

        28       material brought together for the previous inquiry, but we

        29       actually decided at the start of the document production

        30       for this inquiry, to ensure that we could be as thorough as

        31       possible, and we knew the provenance of the documents that

        32       were being produced, that we would start basically from

        33       scratch in terms of going back and retrieving and searching

        34       for any relevant documents.

        35

        36       Q.   Does that mean that you put to one side any other

        37       compilations of material that had been gathered?

        38       A.   Well, no, we used those as part of the search process,

        39       as I understand it.  I think there were some binders or

        40       some documents from the IS&M area.  They were all actually

        41       part of or caught up in the net of the production of

        42       documents for this inquiry, but we wanted to make sure we,

        43       if you like, started from scratch but included those

        44       documents.

        45

        46       Q.   Could we bring up exhibit 498, please - AWB.0338.0050.

        47       You might get it in the exhibits database, exhibit 498.
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         1       This is a memorandum from Andrew Lindberg to the directors

         2       of AWB Limited and AWB International on 6 May 2004.  It

         3       attaches a report from ABC national rural radio news, which

         4       makes reference to KPMG and its appointment to investigate

         5       claims that AWB had overpriced wheat sold to Iraq.  Then

         6       under the heading "Action already undertaken", it records

         7       this:

         8

         9            Last year we commenced a detailed review of

        10            the facts surrounding AWB's Oil for Food

        11            Contracts with Iraq.  This has involved

        12            reviewing over 30,000 emails, many files

        13            and interviewing AWB management.  The

        14            process has been led by Chris Quennell,

        15            Trade & Transport lawyer with Blake Dawson

        16            Waldron, Melbourne.

        17            A report on the factual findings will be

        18            tabled with AWB management tomorrow and

        19            I will be in a position to brief you next

        20            week.

        21            We anticipated this inquiry over 12 months

        22            ago and put in place this process to

        23            establish the facts and to manage AWB's

        24            risk.  The inquiry has been rigorous and

        25            very detailed.  Although substantially

        26            complete, the enquiry will take a further

        27            few weeks to fully complete.

        28

        29       That was the situation as at 6 May 2004, about 18 months

        30       before you were asked to put documents together or to

        31       coordinate a team to put documents together.

        32

        33       MR ABBOTT:   I object.  That was the situation that

        34       Mr Lindberg claimed.

        35

        36       MR AGIUS:   We have had lots of other evidence from both

        37       Mr Fuller and Mr Lindberg verifying that that was in fact

        38       the situation as at May 2004.

        39

        40       Q.   My question to you, Ms Gillingham, is did you, for the

        41       purpose of responding to notices issued by this inquiry,

        42       have access to the compilation of material that is referred

        43       to in this exhibit which I have just read out?

        44       A.   Yes, I believe the material - and I'm not personally

        45       aware of the material that was collected here, but I'm

        46       aware, having had discussions with Mr Cooper - that was put

        47       together was accessed as part of this exercise.  I'm not
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         1       sure of the email search that was done in 2004, but we

         2       certainly took a view of ensuring that we did as thorough a

         3       job as we possibly could by going back and having every

         4       tape that we could possibly find restored for the purposes

         5       of this inquiry.

         6

         7            Now, I don't know, but I don't believe that same

         8       process in terms of restoring every single back-up tape

         9       that could possibly be read was actually undertaken for

        10       this exercise.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Q.   "This exercise" meaning the

        13       exercise in exhibit 498?

        14       A.   Yes.

        15

        16       MR AGIUS:   Q.   But you did have access to the 30,000

        17       emails to which this document, 498, makes reference?

        18       A.   Well, I'm not familiar with the material in terms of

        19       how the 30,000 emails was actually arrived at, but

        20       certainly those 30,000 emails would be included in the

        21       search that we did for this inquiry.

        22

        23       Q.   Would it not have been a simple matter to go and

        24       collect those 30,000 emails and simply provide them to the

        25       inquiry?

        26       A.   I don't believe they were actually collected

        27       physically.  My understanding was that there was some

        28       manual search done through some email material that related

        29       to this particular comment.  So it wasn't a matter of going

        30       and just finding those 30,000 emails.  The 30,000 emails

        31       were going to be caught up in the electronic search that we

        32       did.

        33

        34       Q.   So you do not believe that 30,000 emails had been

        35       isolated and separately compiled as a part of the rigorous

        36       and very detailed review?

        37       A.   I don't know because I wasn't --

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, I promised earlier that if

        40       I thought there was a matter that may traverse the Federal

        41       Court, I would say so.

        42

        43            One of the live issues for determination is the

        44       question of waiver in relation to the presentation that was

        45       made in May 2004, its effect as an act of waiver involving

        46       the disclosure to government of the results, if one likes,

        47       of Project Rose as it was at the time.  So one of the
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         1       issues for determination is what precisely is it, if it

         2       operated as a waiver that is waived.  There was a good deal

         3       of debate about the scope of any waiver, if there was a

         4       waiver at all, and it concerns the subject matter of the

         5       very thing that my friend seems to be asking questions

         6       about.

         7

         8            Now, I understand that he is questioning on the

         9       basis --

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   I don't follow that.

        12

        13       MR JUDD:   The subject matter of the examination put in

        14       part at least is what comprises the material, what was

        15       looked at, how it is identified, where are the 30,000

        16       emails to be found, if they are to be found at all in some

        17       sort of compilation.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   And there was evidence about that

        20       before the Federal Court, was there?

        21

        22       MR JUDD:   A claim of waiver was made by the Commonwealth.

        23       The Commonwealth contended that what was waived was at

        24       least that which had been investigated until this May

        25       period in 2004.  If that is accepted, then the question is

        26       what is the product of that investigation that ought to be

        27       disclosed as a consequence of the waiver, and therefore --

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Was that the subject of evidence in the

        30       Federal Court?

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   There was no evidence in the Federal Court apart

        33       from some transcript and some documentary material,

        34       PowerPoint displays and the like, concerning this issue.

        35       There was no evidence about the content of the 30,000

        36       emails, for example.  One of the points that we had made

        37       was that there was no evidence before the court that would

        38       identify what it precisely was that would be the subject of

        39       the waiver, and it may be that my friend is moving into an

        40       area which traverses that issue.

        41

        42            We understand that he started this process by looking

        43       at what was done more recently and whether or not that

        44       captured what had been done before, and we took no

        45       exception to that, nor could we, because it was a

        46       legitimate line of inquiry.  But insofar as it might extend

        47       into an analysis of what precisely can be identified, then,
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         1       in our submission, it may well traverse that issue.

         2

         3       THE COMMISSIONER:   Why would that be?  The Federal Court,

         4       I assume, will give its decision based on the material

         5       presently before it.

         6

         7       MR JUDD:   Yes.  We are not here to do more than raise the

         8       issue.  We are not troubled by the evidence before the

         9       Federal Court.  We are concerned because we are

        10       practitioners, and also because our client is a litigant in

        11       the Federal Court, to draw attention to the fact that there

        12       is at least the potential for embarrassment because a

        13       situation might arise here where evidence emerges which is

        14       different in relation to an issue which is presently

        15       unresolved.

        16

        17            Now, if we can all be confident that that is not going

        18       to give rise to relevant embarrassment, then so be it.

        19

        20       THE COMMISSIONER:   It would cause me no embarrassment,

        21       Mr Judd.  Whether it causes AWB one would be a different

        22       question.

        23

        24       MR JUDD:   The embarrassment of AWB is not the test.

        25       That's not the reason I rise.  If it were, I would have

        26       been on my feet every day, but that's not the case.  We

        27       don't complain about our embarrassment; it is the

        28       circumstance in which it might be regarded as inappropriate

        29       to persist in inquiry into this particular matter here at

        30       this time, that's all.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   I will allow the question.  It seems to

        33       me that the Federal Court has reserved its decision.

        34       I would be surprised if it gave its decision otherwise than

        35       on the material presently before it.

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   Q.   My question was in the negative.  I will

        38       remove the negative:  do you believe that the 30,000 emails

        39       had been isolated and separately compiled as part of this

        40       review?

        41       A.   I don't believe so.  I believe they had been reviewed,

        42       as I say, manually, but they weren't, as my understanding,

        43       a comprehensive review of the six or so million emails that

        44       we have reviewed for this Commission.

        45

        46       Q.   Were there documented interviews with AWB management?

        47       A.   I don't know.
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         1

         2       Q.   Do you know whether they fell within the purview of

         3       the search that you coordinated?

         4       A.   I believe if there were - if it was relevant material,

         5       it would have been produced.

         6

         7       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, the claim for privilege has been

         8       made in relation to such material as is presently before

         9       the court.  There are some notes of interview by

        10       Mr Quennell, for example.  They are in the list.

        11

        12       MR AGIUS:   Thank you.  I won't go any further with that.

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   Could you let me know in the morning

        15       the numbers in the list, Mr Judd?

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Yes, we can do that.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        20

        21       MR AGIUS:   Q.   Did you ever see a report on the factual

        22       findings that's referred to?

        23       A.   I don't believe so.

        24

        25       Q.   The memo says, "A report on the factual findings will

        26       be tabled with AWB management tomorrow", which would mean

        27       7 May 2004.  Did you receive any such report?

        28       A.   I don't recall it.

        29

        30       Q.   Are you aware of the existence of any such report?

        31       A.   Not that I can recall, but it may exist, but

        32       I don't --

        33

        34       Q.   It may exist, but you don't know about it if it does;

        35       is that what you say?

        36       A.   That's right.

        37

        38       MR AGIUS:   That is the examination of Ms Gillingham as far

        39       as it can be taken on the material that we have and without

        40       access to material that is yet to come in and without being

        41       in a position to totally review the material that came in

        42       last night and this morning.  I would ask that any further

        43       examination of Ms Gillingham be deferred - that is, any

        44       further examination by counsel assisting be deferred until

        45       such later time.  We have no objection if anybody with

        46       leave to appear wishes, on a proper basis, to ask

        47       Ms Gillingham any questions, and they would have to do so
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         1       now.

         2

         3       MR ABBOTT:   I have a couple of questions.  Could I go

         4       last, though?

         5

         6       THE COMMISSIONER:   Yes.  I was going to give you first and

         7       last go.

         8

         9       MR ABBOTT:   I will take both, then, Commissioner.

        10

        11       THE COMMISSIONER:   I thought you might.

        12

        13       <EXAMINATION BY MR ABBOTT:

        14

        15       MR ABBOTT:   Q.   I am now dealing with the involvement of

        16       Professor Peter Sandman.  You mentioned that those who were

        17       responsible for the preparation of the drafts were Messrs

        18       Lindberg, Hargreaves and Cooper, and I think you mentioned

        19       on one occasion Mr Smith, who came from a public relations

        20       firm that was retained by AWB, made some written comments.

        21       Do you remember that evidence?

        22       A.   Yes.

        23

        24       Q.   You can confirm, I think, that Messrs Lindberg,

        25       Hargreaves and Cooper were all on the Project Rose team?

        26       A.   Yes.

        27

        28       Q.   Were you?

        29       A.   No.

        30

        31       Q.   As such, you would expect that they would have much

        32       more knowledge of factual matters than you ever possessed

        33       in this regard?

        34       A.   I would expect so, yes.

        35

        36       Q.   Apart from the things like the email we saw to

        37       Mr Sandman of 11 January 2006 where you referred to

        38       "atmospherics", is there any document that you have found

        39       which involves a comment, a contribution or a criticism by

        40       you of any of the drafts of the so-called contrition

        41       statement?

        42       A.   No.

        43

        44       Q.   Or anything involving any factual input by you?

        45       A.   No.  No.

        46

        47       Q.   Or analysis by you?
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         1       A.   No.

         2

         3       Q.   It has been put to you by counsel assisting that there

         4       should have been a discussion of Professor Sandman's points

         5       as they came through in highlighted form on the various

         6       drafts.  I think you generally have said there was little

         7       discussion, in some cases no discussion, of some of the

         8       matters there highlighted.  What response was there, or how

         9       did AWB's response occur in relation to what Professor

        10       Sandman put forward?

        11       A.   Basically, I think people that were preparing further

        12       drafts were taking Professor Sandman's comments into

        13       account and incorporating them or not incorporating them

        14       into future drafts.

        15

        16       Q.   Did that, as it were, replace critical dialogue at

        17       meetings as to what should be done in relation to

        18       Professor Sandman's comments?

        19       A.   Well, I think that was basically the mechanism for

        20       taking his comments into account.

        21

        22       Q.   If you go to page 285 of the annexures to your

        23       statement, it's the highlighted portion of Professor

        24       Sandman's comments, and this comment by Professor Sandman

        25       was put to you:

        26

        27            It was you guys who told me you now think

        28            most or all of the inland trucking was

        29            handled by government employees paid $10 a

        30            day.

        31

        32       You were unable to assist counsel assisting as to whether

        33       or not you recalled anyone saying that?

        34       A.   That's right.

        35

        36       Q.   I think that's still your evidence, is it not?

        37       A.   That's right.

        38

        39       Q.   But I think you have managed to find a reference in

        40       your papers to that being public knowledge - that is,

        41       published in a newspaper.  I take you to page 193.

        42       Page 193 is an excerpt from one of the publications of the

        43       Murdoch stable, the Australian.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   Is this one of the documents sent to

        46       Professor Sandman?

        47
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         1       MR ABBOTT:   Yes, it is.

         2

         3       Q.   That's one of the documents that was emailed by your

         4       personal assistant to Professor Sandman?

         5       A.   Yes.

         6

         7       Q.   And I think you want to refer the Commissioner to the

         8       fourth paragraph from the bottom on page 193.  Could you

         9       read that out, please?

        10       A.   My copy isn't very clear.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   "The wheat was trucked by poorly paid

        13       government employees who received about $US10 a day for the

        14       service."

        15

        16       MR ABBOTT:   Yes.

        17

        18       Q.   I take it likewise you are not aware of where that

        19       comment came from?

        20       A.   No.

        21

        22       MR ABBOTT:   I have no further questions.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd?

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   No, thank you.

        27

        28       THE COMMISSIONER:   Does anybody else wish to ask any

        29       questions?

        30

        31       MR ALLEN:   No, sir.

        32

        33       MR FORREST:   No, sir.

        34

        35       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Agius?

        36

        37       MR AGIUS:   I have nothing arising.  Might Ms Gillingham be

        38       excused today, but I ask that she not be excused from her

        39       notice.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   I'm afraid I can't excuse you entirely,

        42       Ms Gillingham.  We don't know what yet may emerge from the

        43       documents to be produced to the inquiry.  You are excused

        44       for the time being, thank you.

        45

        46       <THE WITNESS WITHDREW

        47
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         1       MR AGIUS:   Mr Commissioner, before we rise, could I tender

         2       a copy of the statement of Jessica Lyons, dated 21 August

         3       2006, together with such annexures as have been produced.

         4       The statement runs from WST.0043.0001 through to 0057.

         5       I would ask that there be a non-publication order on the

         6       statement until at least such time as Ms Lyons is called to

         7       give evidence, and I expect she will be the first witness

         8       tomorrow.  I just tender it now so we can make it available

         9       to those who appear.

        10

        11       EXHIBIT #1026 STATEMENT OF JESSICA LYONS DATED 21/8/2006

        12       WITH ANNEXURES, BARCODES WST.0043.001-0057

        13

        14       THE COMMISSIONER:   I make a non-publication order in

        15       respect of that exhibit.

        16

        17       MR AGIUS:   I wonder if my learned friend Mr Judd has yet

        18       had an opportunity to address the deletions?

        19

        20       MR JUDD:   I was anticipating this, perhaps too anxiously.

        21       We can inform the Commission, if I can do so by reference

        22       to the paragraph numbers:  paragraph 20 is a reference to

        23       document 30 in the list of privileged documents before the

        24       Federal Court.  Paragraph 21 is not a documentary reference

        25       at all.

        26

        27       THE COMMISSIONER:  Then why is it blanked out?

        28

        29       MR JUDD:   Because it refers to legal advice.  Paragraph 23

        30       is document 32A.

        31

        32       THE COMMISSIONER:   Mr Judd, I'm not sure that's a

        33       sufficient answer, is it?  Does that mean that you are

        34       deciding whether it is privileged or not?  Is that not a

        35       matter for me?  In other words, why should Mr Abbott accept

        36       your view when it is, I think, my responsibility to make

        37       that decision?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   With respect, not so.  If --

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   You see, the normal event is that the

        42       statement should be produced in its entirety to the

        43       Commission, and you should make your claim for privilege,

        44       which I would rule on.

        45

        46       MR JUDD:   No, with respect, not so.  In relation to

        47       documents, yes.
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         1

         2       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, no, in relation to documents, no.

         3       That's why we have the Federal Court proceedings.  I'm

         4       talking about in relation to non-document matters.

         5

         6       MR JUDD:   With respect, no.  One of the problems,

         7       Commissioner, that we have confronted in the Federal Court,

         8       is a contention that the very production or disclosure of

         9       material here acts as a waiver, so we have to be astute to

        10       that issue.  This was not a statement --

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   That's production of documents, or

        13       production of material.

        14

        15       MR JUDD:   No, no, evidence, things that people say, put in

        16       statements and the like.  We have had to grapple with that.

        17       There is no point in going into the arguments here, and it

        18       is inappropriate, but it is not a position that we have

        19       contended for; it is one that has been put against us.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   By the Commonwealth?

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   By the Commonwealth.

        24

        25       THE COMMISSIONER:   So what does that mean, then?  No doubt

        26       the judge will rule on that proposition one way or the

        27       other.

        28

        29       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        30

        31       THE COMMISSIONER:   And that will mean, depending on what

        32       his Honour says, that we may have to revisit all this

        33       stuff.

        34

        35       MR JUDD:   Well, it will certainly have a bearing on it.

        36       It will certainly have a bearing on it.

        37

        38       THE COMMISSIONER:   And if it doesn't constitute a waiver,

        39       if his Honour were to hold that producing paragraph 21 in

        40       its entirety to this inquiry did not constitute a waiver,

        41       then the appropriate course would be for it to be produced

        42       to me with you taking an objection and my ruling on it, it

        43       being a non-documentary claim.

        44

        45       MR AGIUS:   That would be producing to the inquiry under a

        46       claim for privilege, as opposed to simply producing it to

        47       the inquiry.
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         1

         2       MR JUDD:   It may well be so.  We can consider our position

         3       in that regard.  In the past, what we have done is to make

         4       objection before a witness gives evidence of a privileged

         5       communication, and to avoid that kind of situation

         6       arising --

         7

         8       THE COMMISSIONER:   But that means that it is left in the

         9       hands of AWB to decide whether something is privileged or

        10       not.  That can't be right.

        11

        12       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, we have been in hearings now for a

        13       long time, and we have made lots and lots of claims for

        14       privilege in relation to evidence that is given by

        15       witnesses.

        16

        17       THE COMMISSIONER:   I know that.

        18

        19       MR JUDD:   The transcript is replete with objections from

        20       time to time, and --

        21

        22       THE COMMISSIONER:   Perhaps not all, but they have been in

        23       major part all based on documents.  There is very little

        24       evidence where people have said, "I make the claim for

        25       privilege" not based on a document, just based on what was

        26       said.

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   With respect, no.  There are numerous occasions

        29       when witnesses have been asked about advice and an

        30       objection has been taken and counsel assisting has

        31       respected the objection and not pressed the claim.

        32

        33            Now, perhaps it might be said that those are quite

        34       obvious circumstances.

        35

        36       THE COMMISSIONER:   Maybe paragraph 21 is too, but I don't

        37       know.

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   We didn't prepare this, and I can't say that

        40       I recall what is there, having looked at the document only

        41       in a fairly scant way.  If we can perhaps put that to one

        42       side just for the moment, I can give the Commission the

        43       document numbers where they apply.

        44

        45       THE COMMISSIONER:   All right.  Paragraph 23?

        46

        47       MR JUDD:   Paragraph 23 is document 32A.  Paragraph 26



            .22/8/06 (69)              6907

                            Transcript produced by ComputerReporters

�









         1       is reference to documents 31 and 32.  Paragraph 27 is

         2       document 32.  What I will do is inform my friend in a

         3       little more detail when I'm better instructed about what is

         4       in the balance of paragraphs 27 and 28.  Paragraph 33 is

         5       document 41.  Paragraph 35 is document 41.  Paragraph 36 is

         6       document 41.  Paragraph 45 is document 52, and the

         7       privilege claimed has been accepted by the Commonwealth.

         8

         9       THE COMMISSIONER:   I think that is not a correct

        10       expression, is it?  I thought it was an expression that you

        11       use in your code - you say "accepted means objections to

        12       applicant's claim for privilege withdrawn by the second

        13       respondent" that's the Commonwealth.  The Commonwealth in

        14       its list puts it a little differently:  "Claim accepted on

        15       the information currently available to the Commonwealth." .

        16

        17       MR JUDD:   Yes.  That was clarified as being accepted.

        18

        19       THE COMMISSIONER:   What does that mean?

        20

        21       MR JUDD:   Without qualification.  I can take the

        22       Commission to the transcript reference.

        23

        24       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you mind giving me that?

        25

        26       MR JUDD:   Yes, that very issue was raised as

        27       clarification.

        28

        29       THE COMMISSIONER:   Thank you.

        30

        31       MR JUDD:   That then is the balance.  I should say in

        32       relation to documents 30, 32A, 31, and 32 at least, there

        33       is an outstanding issue as to whether privilege goes

        34       because of the impropriety contention raised by the

        35       Commonwealth.  So that's a matter that will be resolved.

        36

        37       THE COMMISSIONER:   32?

        38

        39       MR JUDD:   30, 31, 32 and 32A.

        40

        41       THE COMMISSIONER:   In relation to the annexures to the

        42       statement, there is annexure A which has been removed.

        43       What is that?

        44

        45       MR JUDD:   I don't have that before me.

        46

        47       THE COMMISSIONER:   That is just a blank sheet of paper,
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         1       and there is nothing in the affidavit to indicate what it

         2       is or where it is.

         3

         4       MR JUDD:   Commissioner, could you direct me to the

         5       paragraph?

         6

         7       THE COMMISSIONER:   No, it is not there.

         8

         9       MR JUDD:   Well, I don't have the annexures.  I apologise.

        10       I can't assist.

        11

        12       THE COMMISSIONER:   Let me just pass that down.  We will

        13       pass Mr Judd a copy.

        14

        15       MR AGIUS:   It seems that the first annexure identified in

        16       the statement is G.

        17

        18       MR JUDD:   I will clarify this, but I expect that they are

        19       the documents that I have just identified.

        20

        21       THE COMMISSIONER:   30, 31 --

        22

        23       MR JUDD:   30, 31, 32, 32A, but we will have that

        24       clarified.

        25

        26       THE COMMISSIONER:   Would you have that clarified?

        27

        28       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        29

        30       THE COMMISSIONER:   There are some more later on.

        31

        32       MR JUDD:   Yes.

        33

        34       THE COMMISSIONER:   Anything further tonight?  I will

        35       adjourn until 10am.

        36

        37       AT 5.30PM THE COMMISSION WAS ADJOURNED TO WEDNESDAY,

        38       23 AUGUST 2006 AT 10AM

        39

        40

        41

        42

        43

        44

        45

        46

        47
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